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Thursday, October 21, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Keizer, I believe we are continuing with the nuclear refurbishment panel.  Are there any preliminary matters?

MR. KEIZER:  We have no preliminary matters, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Pui, I believe you are up for the Society.

MR. PUI:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 6, RESUMED

Nathan Reeve, Sworn Previously


Dietmar Reiner, Sworn Previously


Gary Rose, Sworn Previously


Laurie Swami, Sworn Previously

Cross-Examination by Mr. Pui:

MR. PUI:  My name is Stanley Pui, and I represent the Society of Energy Professionals here.

I will just tell you a little bit about my background: mechanical engineering in training.  Past 30 years, I worked for OPG in various capacities.  I worked in hydroelectric and primarily in nuclear.

Within the nuclear program, I was -- during the years 2000 to 2007 I was actually part of the licensing -- trying to get myself licensed for Pickering A, and, in particular, probably beneficial to this panel is the fact I was intimately involved with the Pickering A return to service.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Pui, thank you for that.  First of all, could I ask you to push the screen down in front of you, just so that -- not your computer screen, but this one.  Just gently push it forward, if you could, and then we would get a better line of sight.

MR. MILLAR:  This one is broken, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. PUI:  Well...

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's okay.  We will just leave that.

MR. PUI:  That's even better.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And as I am sure you are aware, the primary purpose of this phase of the proceeding is to ask questions of the witnesses.

MR. PUI:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I am quite happy for you to have given that brief introduction about your sort of position with the Society, but I think we are trying to keep things moving along.  So if you are ready to ask questions, I think that would be great.

MR. PUI:  Understood.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. PUI:  So the first question is I just want to clarify the ownership of OPG, and that is the provincial government; is that correct?

MR. REINER:  That is correct.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  Now, my question actually relates to Darlington refurbishment, as well as Pickering continued operations.


In the -- in your submission on the preliminary release business case, section 6, on qualitative factors or factors not fully quantified, I think you mentioned a few areas where you have not examined, for instance, CO2 reductions, fully -- loss of economic scale, decommissioning and funding impacts and work force impacts.

And in looking at this, one of the areas that I didn't quite review or find was the area of net benefits to Ontario, and specifically buy Ontario options.

Essentially, the net benefits or the spin-off effects of Darlington refurbishment relative to the owner of Ontario, essentially, if we're talking about expending, you know, $6 to $8 billion and continuing operation for the next 30 years with Darlington refurbishment, what is the potential to spin-off effects to the economy -- the Ontario economy for this project.

So in doing that, I may want to explore a little bit in terms of the NPV calculations and LUEC.

The first question I will ask you is that -- in terms of the fuel options that you mentioned for combined cycle gas turbine.  Now, in terms of fuelling of combined cycle gas turbines, one of the alternatives you mentioned is applicable to -- in place of Darlington refurbishment.

Now, in terms of fuel, was that -- can you buy that in Ontario, or...

MR. REINER:  The combined cycle gas turbine option is a gas option; right?  So that would rely on a gas supply.

Now, what is your question, if we can buy --


MR. PUI:  I guess my question is: The source of the supply for gas, is that in Ontario?

MR. REINER:  The source of the supply, I mean, I can't comment on the exact sources.  I mean, the gas comes in via pipelines from a number of sources into Ontario.

So I couldn't tell you what -- you know, what the makeup of that is.

MR. PUI:  Let me just say that, to the best of your knowledge at this point, is there a large producer of gas, natural gas, in Ontario?

MR. REINER:  I mean, Ontario is not a rich province in gas resources; right?  So gas comes from the east coast and from the west.  And so my expectation would be that's where the bulk of the gas supply would come from.

MR. PUI:  Understood.  Now, in terms of the combined cycle gas turbine, the equipment that is being used, is that manufactured in Ontario or is it typically -- basically, to install a combined gas turbine, you're looking at about $2,000 per kilowatt install base.  I just want to get an idea in terms of where that money is going to be spent.

For the gas turbine, is it in the United States?  Is it western Canada?  Is it Ontario, based on your best knowledge?

MR. REINER:  You would probably see this broken into a variety of components.  Obviously the construction and installation would be done in Ontario, since that is where we are looking at building the option.

There are going to be components that aren't necessarily from Ontario.  And the decisions that you make when you procure, you run a competitive process and you buy the lowest priced option.  There are manufacturers of gas turbines worldwide.

And so a procurement process, certainly a procurement process that we would run, wouldn't exclude, you know, global vendors from participating.

MR. PUI:  So just for the combined cycle gas turbine, I guess it is logical to assume, based on the information you presented, that essentially it is not a buy Ontario option, then?  Essentially, what you're talking about, all the expenditures for the next 30, 40 years, plus the procurement of the installed base, essentially will be spent outside of Ontario, with virtually very little net benefit from that expenditure to the ratepayers, as well as Ontarians, and also to the owner, provincial government in this case.

Is it logical to assume that at this point?

MR. REINER:  As far as our analysis goes here, I mean, the information we tried to present when we looked at levellized unit energy cost of other alternatives that could meet the base load generation need, we're using information that is publicly available.

It isn't specific to, you know, what if a component is manufactured in a certain place.  It is publicly available information that's reflective of the industry.

So it's difficult for me to comment on that.  I mean, that's what is in these assumptions, and it is a global industry.  There are manufacturers of components that would reside in Ontario.  There are manufacturers of components that would reside outside of Ontario.  So it is a combination.

I couldn't tell you specifics of that.  It really isn't relevant in terms of the LUEC comparison that we were trying to draw here.

MR. PUI:  I understand that the LUEC is -- what I am trying to relate to you is the fact that in section 6 of your preliminary release business case, you mentioned a whole bunch of qualitative factors that haven't been quantified yet.  And I just want to get an idea in terms of the net effect of one of your alternatives, and in terms of specifically for the alternatives, the inputs associated with that alternatives.

Now, I am just going to turn over to nuclear refurbishment a little bit in terms of the inputs for that calculation.  In terms of nuclear fuel, can you elaborate as to (a) the source of your uranium concentrate, typically, again, whether it is Ontario, whether it is in Saskatchewan?  Also, the processing of that uranium, is that in Ontario or is it elsewhere?

MR. REINER:  I don't have that knowledge available.  I believe there was questioning in the base OM&A nuclear panel specifically on uranium contracts that got into some of that detail.

I couldn't comment.  We are using our current cost of uranium.

MR. PUI:  Mm-hmm.

MR. REINER:  And offhand...

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. SWAMI:  Fuel manufacturing is done in various locations.  There are facilities in Port Hope, in Ontario, where there would be some manufacturing that takes place.

As Mr. Dietmar said -- sorry, Mr. Reiner said, I am not familiar with the specific contract arrangements that we have currently, but it is certainly -- there are facilities in Ontario.

MR. PUI:  All right.  I guess another input to your nuclear refurbishment option, aside from fuelling, is OM&A, outage OM&A and projects.

Now, these expenditures, are they primarily done in-house?  Or are they done with resources by supporting companies within Ontario?  Or are they done externally, meaning outside of Ontario?

MR. REINER:  The outage-related costs you're referring to specifically?

MR. PUI:  Well, you can take it in three broad categories.  One is your OM&A, your base OM&A.  One is your outage OM&A.  One is your continued project costs.

MR. REINER:  So OM&A, I mean, that is base OM&A is to pay largely for resources that are employed by the company.  So that is work done in-house.

Outage work, I mean, outage work typically is a combination.  The lion's share of outage work is done by station resources, by maintenance and operations resources at the stations.  There are contract resources that are brought in, because at times there are very specialized services that are executed during outages.  Some of the inspection work, for example, if there is construction work that takes place to install a mechanical piece of equipment, that could be contracted.

So you will see in outages a combination of contractors as well as base resources.

On projects, you would have a combination as well.  There is a set of resources that you would hire that would be part of the organization.  There are also contractors that provide some of the services.  And in projects, what sort of drives you in the direction of the decisions you make is the duration of the activity, and that is probably a factor that impacts outage, as well as the duration of the activity.  And if it is a very short-duration activity, contracting becomes a viable option.

You would also look at the nature of the services.  Is it something the company is capable of doing itself?  Or is it a service that we need to purchase because we don't have the skills in-house?

So you would see that mix of contract and internal.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  So am I logically to assume at this point that the bulk of the OM&A, outage OM&A, as well as your project costs, really is procured within Ontario, meaning also?  Because part of it is your own staff, OPG staff, and part of it is contractors and these contractors are typically your BTU trades, again, part of the Ontario's labour pool.  Okay?

I just want to get an idea, in terms of the various -- in terms of the inputs of this project.

Now, let me turn you to the refurbishment cost that you mentioned, you know, six to eight billion.

Of that, can you elaborate as to how much of that would typically be using Ontario labour pool?  And you can use the basis on, you know, 30 percent procurement, 30 percent construction, 30 percent operation and maintenance, commissioning.  And if on that basis, how much typically would be spent in Ontario?  Providing direct benefits to Ontarians?

MR. REINER:  So in that six- to $10 billion range that we've identified, certainly the labour pool would be largely Ontario-based.  As you had said, we would be hiring from the trade unions.  It would be an Ontario-based labour pool.

There is a component of that cost that relates to components that we need to have fabricated for us and we need to purchase.  Those may be fabricated outside of Ontario.  They may be fabricated inside of Ontario.

I would expect to see a mix of that.

MR. PUI:  But it is logical to assume that of the six to eight billion –- sorry, it six- to 10 billion project costs, it would probably be the bulk of it, 70 to 80 percent of it is actually spent in Ontario?

MR. REINER:  We have not actually done a detailed analysis to see is it Ontario-based, is it non-Ontario-based.

You know, at this stage when we look at our contracting strategy, we are looking to get the best value for money.  And so there isn't an inherent assumption that says within Ontario, the best value for money.

So we will look at all options.  But there is a significant component of the cost that comes via the labour pool, and it is an Ontario-based labour pool.

Even as you, I think, as you look at the fabrication and purchasing of components and contractors doing the work for us, I would also expect that there will be -- there will be an Ontario labour-based positive impact as a result of that, given that all of that material will arrive at the Darlington site and will require some management by the vendors, physically at that site.

So I would expect that to have some direct Ontario-based benefits as well.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  So I guess just to wrap things up a little bit, so essentially over the next 30 to 40 years, the net outlay, we're looking at probably in the -- for these options that we're talking about -- probably upwards in the 20- to $25 billion expenditure; right?

Just in general?  I am not being very specific in the numbers.

Now -- and this is a direct input into the Ontario economy.  And the economic spin-offs, typically for direct input -- it has been a while since I've taken Economics 100 -- I believe is in the range of seven to 10 multiplier?

MS. SWAMI:  So to answer that specific question, we don't have a rule of thumb, if you would, that assesses what the indirect and direct spin-offs would be.

As part of the environmental assessment, we complete a socio-economic study of the impacts of this type of investment in the local study area, as well as the regional study area, which in this case will encompass, you know, far into Durham region, go a little further to the east, as well as into Toronto.

And so we will be studying that as we progress through the environmental assessment for this project, and at that time, we will be assessing the number of employees, we will look at what their location is likely to be, based on historical information.  We will look at the businesses that will develop in the local area that would be in support of refurbishment.  It will also look at the other businesses that will likely develop to support the staff, the businesses that come.  So those would be the smaller businesses that, you know, would provide other services.

So there are many other benefits from an infrastructure project of this size, and that will be covered in the environmental assessment.

MR. PUI:  Understood.  So just bear with me.  Let's just take that initial seven to 10 multiplier figure, and we take that into the consideration, 20 to 25 billion.

So the net effect to the Ontario economy over the next 20 to 25 or 30 years or so, we're talking about what?  200 billion?  For this type of project?  Just...

MS. SWAMI:  I haven't done the studies yet.  And as I said, I don't have a rule of thumb that I would rely on, so I can't comment on the number.  Until we do those studies, I think we have to be clear.

I wouldn't dispute that there will be a multiplier effect, though.

MR. PUI:  So in your preliminary release business case, you know, this being such a large figure, net benefit -- and bear in mind the OPG is not a privately-owned company; right?  So the multiplier effect on a private company is very much different than a multiplier effect on the provincial government, which gains from this multiplier effect; right?

We all pay taxes.  We all pay provincial taxes.  So my ultimate question to you is that -- can you include, in your -- or provide some information on qualitative factors and that hasn't been fully quantified specifically to the buy Ontario option and from Darlington refurbishment, as well as for Pickering continued operations?

That's basically what -- the question that I am asking at this point.

MR. REINER:  It certainly is fair to assume that there is a multiplier effect and that there are going to be some spin-off effects and that the community will benefit, as Ms. Swami said.

We haven't done a detailed analysis to see what that is.  There may be information out there, and, as Ms. Swami said, the environmental assessment will look at that.

Now, when you look specifically at our decision and our assessment, it started with a directive from our shareholder to look at what it would take, you know, to do a feasibility assessment of the refurbishments.  That analysis led to a decision, a decision that -- you know, given the economics, the overlaps, some of the other factors we talked about Pickering B, it is a decision that led us to Darlington being the best candidate to refurbish.

We tested our LUEC with the Ontario Power Authority.  The Ontario Power Authority would certainly be looking at, you know, other options that are available.

I couldn't comment whether a made-in-Ontario option specifically is part of what goes into their analysis to meet the base load generation requirements.

We got feedback from the OPA that if our project is within that LUEC range that we have identified, it is an economic alternative to pursue for base load, for meeting Ontario's base load requirements.  So that's the path.

Now, the economic assessment that we do to differentiate, you know, doesn't look at a spin-off effect and a benefit to the shareholder indirectly through tax revenues or through other community benefits.

I am not sure that it would be appropriate to do that in a business case, but I think it is absolutely fair to say that there are benefits there, and there is a multiplier effect, and the community will see benefits and our shareholder will see other benefits as a result of this project.

MR. PUI:  So what I am trying to get at is that it presented to the ratepayers that over the next 30 years you would be generating certain terawatt-hours of energy for us.

And me as an individual, as a ratepayer, can decide and say, Yes, you go at this juncture, make the decision, go on combined cycle gas turbines, or you can take the nuclear option.

And I don't believe that the information presented at this point provides the information to allow the ratepayer to really assess and say, Hey, wait a second here.  Nuclear option as buy Ontario option has a net benefit over the time period of upwards $200 billion to the Ontario economy directly and indirectly; whereas the alternative you spoke of, combined cycle gas turbines, essentially is a direct outflow.

So any individuals, a ratepayer looking at these options, will say, Well, realistically one kilowatt-hour of electricity is the same to the individual.  So if the message to get out is to say the nuclear option is a buy Ontario option with net benefits to Ontarians, what do you see or how would you view the ratepayers' support for the Darlington nuclear refurbishment, as well as Pickering B continuing operations, would be in that case?

MR. REINER:  We certainly see the nuclear option as being a good option, for a variety of reasons.  I mean, you touched on several of them.  It is clean energy.  It is emission-free energy.  It is large volumes of base load emission-free energy.

It is cost competitive to other alternatives.  As a matter of fact, the Darlington refurbishment is the best cost option available when you assess it against other equivalent alternatives.

So in that regard, we certainly do believe that it is a good option for Ontario.  And, you know, factoring in some of these other factors that aren't included in our business case, because you then get into a very complex and broad assessment of alternatives, there are other spin-off benefits, as well, but, you know, the economics of the option come out of the fact that the LUEC is within a range that is very competitive.

And we do -- as I said, we do believe that, yes, this is a good option for Ontario.

MR. PUI:  I have no more questions on this matter.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Pui.

Mr. Crocker, I have you next in the order of cross-examination.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Before I begin, I just want to let the Board know to what I will be referring.

We have put together a compendium which perhaps could be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Exhibit K8.1, the AMPCO compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

I am also going to be referring to one piece of the GEC cross-examination materials, which is K7.1.  And I also may, depending on answers to questions, refer to volume 6 of the transcript, a brief reference to volume 6 of the transcript.

Good morning.  My name is David Crocker and I represent AMPCO.  I would like you to turn up, please, page 5 of our material, which is AMPCO interrogatory 15.  So it is Issue 4.5, Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 15.

And in question (d) in that interrogatory, we asked:
"What assumptions have OPG made with respect to the role of AECL in the Darlington refurbishment?"


And you answered over the page that, "OPG has made no assumptions".

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  I will elaborate a little bit on that.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, before you do, can I ask you one question, and then you can elaborate away?

You fairly answered the question about assumptions with an answer that talked about assumptions, and what I would like to know is whether what you meant was that you haven't decided whether or not AECL will be involved and to what extent they will be involved.  Is that what you meant when you said "assumptions"?

MR. REINER:  That's what we meant.  AECL clearly, based on the fact that they are involved in other CANDU refurbishments, have some of the capability that we will require.

We are running a process currently to select contractors for some of that key work, specifically related to retubing the reactor and replacing feeders that would fall into that space of AECL.

AECL is a proponent that we are talking to as part of that process, but there are other proponents as well, and we are going to run that through a competitive process.  So there is a potential that AECL is the winner in that process; there is a potential that they are not.

So that will come out of a procurement process.

Now, what I will qualify is just also there are very specialized services where we do indeed rely on AECL already, and we will continue to do so.  AECL has the Chalk River laboratories, for example.  In those laboratories are hot cells.  Those are the only facilities available where you can take a pressure tube, for example, and do destructive evaluation.  You can take irradiated fuel and you can do post-irradiated fuel examinations, that sort of thing.

We also utilize AECL for some of the very specialized inspections that we do during some of the outages, and also for some very specialized engineering support.

So there is an element of work that we do utilize AECL for that does relate to the refurbishment.  That probably, on an annual basis, sits in the range of 10 to $15 million, but certainly for, as I said, for the bulk of the construction work related to re-tubing the reactor and replacing feeders, the outcome of our procurement process will determine who the final contractor will be.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  AECL has been and probably still is the principal re-tubing contractor for CANDU reactors, aren't they?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  If you base that on, you know, who is doing the re-tubing work today in the CANDU refurbishments, that would be correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  By not presuming or assuming, as we have said and you have said in this interrogatory, by not assuming that AECL is going to do the work, I guess you are aware of other contractors who are capable of doing that kind of work, are you?

MR. REINER:  That's correct, there are.  And if I recall correctly, the construction of the Darlington reactors was actually largely General Electric.

So the initial installation of calandria tubes and pressure tubes at Darlington was not AECL.

MR. CROCKER:  So --


MR. REINER:  So there are others out there that have that capability.

MR. CROCKER:  Is General Electric, then, one of the contractors you would expect to bid on this?

MR. REINER:  I would expect to see General Electric come forward and express interest, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And are there others?

MR. REINER:  There are others, potentially, as well, that I would expect to see come forward.

We did run an expression of interest back in the summer.  Now, I don't want to go into too much detail here, because it is a commercial process, but there were seven proponents that came forward, that responded to the expression of interest.

And so our process now will take those seven and come up with a final.

MR. CROCKER:  I assume from the first part of your answer to the question that at this time, you are uncomfortable identifying those seven?

MR. REINER:  I am, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Then I won't ask you who they are.

Has there been consideration of OPG doing the work themselves, the re-tubing work themselves, or yourself?

MR. REINER:  It is an option, but not a -- I wouldn't call it an attractive option.

We have -- we did re-tube the Pickering reactors.  I think that was done largely under our management.

What we are expecting to see for a Darlington refurbishment is a significant investment and development of tooling to do that work.  There is a lot of automation that we would expect to see utilized.

If we were a refurbishment company, I would say that is something that we would go after, because we would look to recoup that investment in other refurbishments, but given that we are specifically looking at a station, I think the economics will take us in a -– well, the economics do take us in a direction where it is not something that we would execute directly.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I ask you, please, to go to Exhibit K7.1, the -- I think that is the exhibit number -- the GEC cross-examination materials?  And to page 12 of that, which is AMPCO Interrogatory 18?  So that is Issue 4.5, Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 18.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you said in response to question (b) that –- and I am reading from the -- beginning at the second word on the third line:

"OPG is a member of the Plant Refurbishment Working Group of the CANDU Owner's Group.  This group meets informally to share their operating experience around refurbishment planning and execution activities.  OPG has visited CANDU units at Bruce, Pt. Lepreau, Wolsong... and Gentilly..."

You've followed that, have you?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have read that correctly?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you give me a sense as to the kind of information which is shared as part of this working group?

MR. ROSE:  Sure.  I can.  I have actually participated in some of these benchmarking trips, and in fact, we have -- the next benchmarking trip will be at the Darlington site, where we will continue with that sharing of information.

But the types of things that we discuss -- and this is the owners of these plants that are having the discussions mainly -- we talk about our experiences, we talk about the schedule and how things are going along with each schedule.  So each project, generally gives a high-level update of how their project is going along.

We talk about technical issues that each organization are dealing with, and how to resolve those.

And there is -- the members of that group are at different phases, obviously, of the refurbishments.  Point Lepreau is further along than Wolsong, who is closing in on where Point Lepreau is now, based on the delays at Lepreau.  But G2 in Quebec, obviously, are not planning to start their refurbishment until 2012.  So they are very interested in the learnings, and specifically due to the fact that AECL will be involved in their refurbishment.

So we talk about issues, we talk about how we could do things differently, and we compare that information at a fairly -- at a fairly high level generally, but we do get into some specific issues.

As an example, we talked specifically at the last meeting about the leak test failures at Point Lepreau and what were some of the things being done to, one, get them back on track, and two, what were the lessons learned, so the rest of us don't make those mistakes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, we are going to get to that in a sec.

What you didn't say that you discussed, and I am interested in whether you do, is financial information.  Is that shared?

MR. ROSE:  Not beyond what we currently have publicly.  We don't get into specifics.  I don't know, as an example, the detailed breakdown of the information we have, the public information that we have here on the G2 or the Point Lepreau costs or the Wolsong costs.

MR. CROCKER:  But you --


MR. ROSE:  It is really about -- we really talk about schedule, planning issues, you know, how they're approaching the refurbishment.  We exchange some of our planning activities.  We get input from everybody who is participating.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you even discuss, in a general sense -- without specifics -- the real costs that these owners are incurring with respect to their refurbishments?

MR. ROSE:  At the meetings that I've been at -- and I have attended - I have only attended one meeting to date - we don't get into any specific conversations about costs.

MR. CROCKER:  How many meetings have there been, do you know?

MR. REINER:  So this is done through a COG, CANDU Owners Group, initiative.  And I believe that group meets quarterly.

So there has been a visit to Wolsong this past summer, that Gary mentioned he was part of.  That same group is coming, actually, to Darlington in the next few weeks.

So it is a quarterly group that assembles to have those discussions.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you been involved in any of those meetings?

MR. REINER:  I haven't been --


MR. CROCKER:  I will tell you why I am asking.  I think it is kind of surprising that costs, which are fairly fundamental to this, even at the broadest level aren't discussed.

MR. REINER:  I can maybe offer a few reasons why.  The actual costs will be an outcome of a series of contracts that are in place.  Those contracts are confidential.  They're commercial.  They have elements in them around warranties, claims, guarantees, that sort of thing, and that is not the kind of thing that as a company you would share.  We would be reluctant to share that with others.

But I think it is fair to assume that the technical discussion allows us to come up with cost-related information.  So, for example, when we benchmark things like, you know, what is the time that it takes to install a pressure tube assembly, we can equate that to dollars.  There is an element of time.  There is an effort.  There are materials.  We can equate that to dollars.  So we can build up costs on that.

What the public available cost information rolls up, and that is not accessible to us, is:  What are the elements of the contracts and the liabilities and guarantees, and that sort of thing, that are built into the contracts?  And that is -- that tends to be confidential and not up for discussion.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we go back, please, then, to K8.1, the compendium that was put together for today?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And go back to AMPCO Interrogatory 15 at page 5.  And we asked you in question (b) about costs, and you provided, on page 6, costs with respect to Bruce 1 and 2 and Point Lepreau; correct?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And you have said that the costs for Point Lepreau are estimated costs of completion at 1.5 billion and for Bruce 1.9 billion?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  That's what this table indicates.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you have said that this is based -- your information or the costs that you have provided here is based on publicly available information?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And you have described in your previous answer why that is the case, okay.

One of the partners in Bruce is TransCanada Pipelines; correct?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I assume that one piece of publicly available information that you used in order to arrive at these costs would be their quarterly statement?

MR. REINER:  Their financial statements, yes, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you tell me when that most -- or the most recent of those public statements has -- was produced and on which you relied for any part of this information?

MR. ROSE:  So in the notes to the response to your question (b) in L-2-15, we refer to note 1 in the original estimates as referring to the Ministry of Energy Ontario, October 17th, 2005, and the TransCanada news release of the same date.

We then -- the estimate at complete, we note the reference is TransCanada Q4 2009 investor report, February 23rd, 2010 from the TransCanada Pipelines' internet site.

MR. CROCKER:  For the reporter's purposes, those are footnotes 1, 2, 3 and 4 at the bottom of the page.

My understanding is that there will be another TransCanada Pipeline quarterly report produced beginning of November.  Is that your understanding?

MR. REINER:  I don't know what their fiscal cycle is, but I would expect we will see another one very soon.

MR. CROCKER:  If it is helpful to the Board to refer to that report in order to update these costs, would there be difficulty, in your view, in their referring -- in the Board's referring to that report if we were to provide it once it -- on its availability?

MR. REINER:  To the extent that that --


MR. KEIZER:  Are you asking me, I think, are you Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, when you say provide it if it is publicly available, do you mean refer to it in argument?  Is that what you're referring to?

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure it will be available in time.  I think the timing may be very tight, and so it may not be available for us to refer to.

And in that case, if independently the Board were to refer to it as the most current information, would that be difficult -- present a difficulty for you?

MR. KEIZER:  I mean, in our view, it goes to untested evidence, and if it is something that is publicly available and if someone makes reference to it, whether in this proceeding or outside of it, it is not tested and it should go to little weight, other than the fact that that is what the number says.  The implications of the number, I am assuming, we are not prepared to give ongoing undertakings post completion of the hearing or even when necessary.  So...

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure I understand the answer, but --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I am not sure I understand the request.  Effectively what you're saying is, whenever we get new information, can we come back and do it again 
and -- or use it.  I mean, that is up to you to decide.  My view is that -- is that it is a piece of -- it is a number that is in the public venue.

How that is interpreted and how that is applied by OPG and what implications it means to OPG is something that wouldn't be in evidence, and it goes to the issue that the Chair referenced the other day, which is it is effectively untested and shouldn't have any weight.

MR. CROCKER:  I won't push the issue, but I don't think that is a fair characterization of the question I asked.  But that's okay.  I won't push the issue.

Can I assume from this, referring specifically for the moment to the costs for Bruce 1 and 2, that those costs are only the direct costs to Bruce?  Do you know that?

MR. REINER:  I don't know that for certain.  And specific to Bruce, I don't know whether they're looking at any sort of lost opportunity and factoring that into those costs.  I do not know.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.

MR. ROSE:  I don't believe we even know if this has escalated fully loaded with interest costs or net of that, either.  We only have the information that was in the report.

I am not certain of the details of that.

MR. CROCKER:  You haven't -- you haven't enquired further?  You just accepted the information and reproduced it here?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  With respect to Point Lepreau, do you know whether the costs that you have reflected here include the costs of replacement power?

MR. REINER:  I do not know that, either.  I don't believe we have that level of detail in the information.

MR. ROSE:  I actually believe that the 1.02 billion is -- excludes the costs of replacement power.  I am --


MR. CROCKER:  Once again, for the record, that is the original estimate --


MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  -- that you included?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  And my assumption would be the 1.5 billion, note 4, would also exclude the costs of replacement power.  These are direct costs of the refurbishment itself.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you know whether those costs include any losses AECL may have incurred in the work that they have done on the project?

MR. ROSE:  I do not know that.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If we could turn, please, to page 3 of the compendium, page 3 is page 17 of the 2010 annual financial report of AECL.  And as you can see in the second bullet under the heading "Funding", maybe I will read it:

"A $346,000,000 cash infusion to support reactor life-extension projects within the CANDU reactor division to meet contractual obligations..."

That's, as I understand that –- well, maybe I will ask you this.

First of all, my understanding is that the reference here to life-extension projects are the projects we have spoken about, Bruce, Point Lepreau, Wolsong and Gentilly.  That is your understanding, isn't it?

MR. ROSE:  I wouldn't say it is my understanding, but I would agree with you.  I would assume that that's what they're referring to.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  As I understand it, the 346 million cash infusion means that the federal government, the owner of AECL, has provided $346 million to cover shortfalls in, or losses that AECL has incurred in those projects.  Do you think that is a fair reading of that?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. ROSE:  I don't assume that -– clearly, that is not my understanding.  Two, I don't necessarily assume that.  It may be that they are funding the $346 million, it says at the top, in operating and capital activities as an interim funding until payments are received from the vendors that they're doing the work for.

I am not certain -- I am speculating, to be clear -- but I am not certain if it is a timing issue, or if it is funding overruns.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  When you said it wasn't your assumption, I think you were saying that my assumption wasn't your assumption?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  So my next question is:  Do you have an independent assumption?  Do you see it -- another reference here that it refers to something else?

MR. REINER:  Just in reading this, and you know, we have read it just now, so at the top, you know, total funding recognized in 2009-2010 for operating and capital activities was $948 million, and there is a breakdown.

I don't know that you can -- just to the point that Mr. Rose was trying to make -- I don't know that you can extract from that that this is -- what this is due to.  There could be a variety of reasons that require that funding, and there could be future cash inflows to offset that funding.  I don't think it is -- I can't extract that from the information that is written here.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But just so that we are clear, it does say a $346 million cash infusion to support reactor life extension; correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I am just having a hard time understanding what AECL's financial position, and whether it is or isn't funding and how it is funding, is relevant to the Darlington refurbishment project.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, with respect, Madam Chairman, AECL -- being a, once again, a government-owned company, its losses are borne by the public.  And I am just trying to understand what real costs we are looking at with respect to these refurbishment projects, and whether we can -- whether we can expect those, potentially those kinds of costs being factored in, and whether they should be factored in, in terms of -- at this preliminary stage, in terms of determining what the real costs of these projects are.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, Mr. Crocker, I think you have the answer from the witnesses that they are not prepared to -- they don't have the information that you are asking with respect to this second bullet point as to the purpose of that funding.

MR. CROCKER:  I was prepared to move on, in any event.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Great.

MR. CROCKER:  If you flip over the page to page 4 of our compendium, which is page 28 of that same report, you will see under the heading "Off balance sheet arrangements" under the heading "Bank carries and fees and other standby letters of credit" a description of what I am suggesting to you are other potential liabilities that AECL may incur as a result of the life-extension projects we talked about.

Could you just read that briefly and agree with me that that is what that little section talks about?

MR. KEIZER:  Again, I guess I'm going to the same place.  I just don't understand.  I mean, the witnesses have said AECL may be involved.  They may not be involved.  And we're still being asked to comment on the financial situation or what the notes in the financial statement of AECL means.

I just don't -- I don't think the witnesses, you know, taken from the previous response, really are in a position to comment how AECL deals with its guarantees or its standby letters of credit.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I think perhaps we can get an answer for the record, and then I will move on.  That is, an answer to the question.

I don't think it is fair for Mr. Keizer to provide an answer.  I asked a simple question and I expect a simple answer, and if the answer is they don't know, then I am prepared to move on.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I didn't mean to put the answer on the record.  I was just simply saying that the question wasn't relevant.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, do the witnesses have any different answer for this question than for the previous question regarding --


MR. REINER:  All I could do is read this.  And there is a statement in here that, you know, there is a potential exposure.  It's been quantified.

What that exposure may become will be the outcome of the contracts under which that exposure exists, and it would then show up in a cash flow somewhere.

But I think, based on what this says, is -- you know, I can only read the words, and say:  Yes, they have put in a statement that there is a potential exposure that exists through liquidated damages, and those would be elements that they have in current active contracts.  And there is probably a prudency requirement that requires them to identify that as a potential financial risk.

That is all I could say.

MR. CROCKER:  And the obvious answer to this question is that the costs that you provided in response -- in the responses in AMPCO Interrogatory 15, don't include any costs such as these, or any contingencies for these kinds of costs?

MR. ROSE:  Again, I don't know that specifically.  We could make that assumption, because we're talking about the costs of the project.  But again, I really don't know for certain.  I would be speculating, again.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we turn to page 1 of the compendium, please?  This is an excerpt from World Nuclear News.  Mr. Poch made reference to another earlier excerpt from this.

This one is pretty current.  I'm not -– sorry, the date is at the top, 11th of October.

It says in the first paragraph that:

"All of the 380 new calandria tubes installed as part of the major ongoing refurbishment at the Point Lepreau CANDU 6 nuclear power plant in Canada are to be removed and reinstalled."

And I think it was Mr. Reiner who began -- I can't remember which one of you began to discuss that with me.

MR. REINER:  I think it was me, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  That is your understanding of what's happening at Point Lepreau?

MR. REINER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Is it also your understanding that that's going to happen at Bruce?

MR. REINER:  No, I don't -- it is not my understanding that this will happen at Bruce.  As a matter of fact, I believe there was an announcement at Bruce that indicated that they have actually passed their leak tests for calandria tube installation, and are moving to pressure tube installation.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And -- I'm sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you.  And did they do things differently in order to achieve that result?  Differently from what was done at Point Lepreau, as far as you know?

MR. REINER:  I don't know the exact process that Bruce Power would have used, but there could be a variety of differences that led to that different result.  The mechanical design of the reactor, for one, is a contributor.  Then the procedures that get used when a calandria tube is extracted.  And the area where the rolled joint is, how that area gets prepared could have been different at Bruce than it was at Point Lepreau.  And that could have been a contributor to why Bruce Power isn't experiencing the same problems.

I mean, certainly we have experience replacing calandria tubes in OPG.  We have replaced a calandria tube at Pickering unit 7 a couple of years back.  Our procedure is different than the one that was used at Point Lepreau, and we didn't have issues establishing a tight rolled joint seal for calandria tubes.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you expect, with respect to the Darlington refurbishment, to be able to take advantage of the experience at Bruce?  Will it help you?

MR. REINER:  We fully expect that we would be able to take advantage of that.  That is part of the technical discussion that the working groups talk about, and it is industry operating experience that generally gets shared amongst the reactor owners.

So the correct procedure that resulted in a good seal is one that we would expect we would be able to have access to, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And in the event that you do have to remove and replace the calandria tubes, that you don't get a good seal, what does that do to your -- to the timing of the refurb?

MR. REINER:  Now, you would have to look at -- now, I was going to say we are not making any assumption about replacing calandria tubes.  We are, as a matter of fact, quite confident we will establish a seal when we install them the first time around.

In the case of Point Lepreau, I believe there was a media release last Friday where they talked about timing, and I don't know that the calandria tube is the only issue that was factored into that, but they adjusted their return to service dates to the fall of 2012 in that media release.

And I believe that the calandria tubes was a key contributor to that.

MR. CROCKER:  And I think I am correct in saying that that would be three years longer than they expected the project to be, or almost three years longer?

MR. REINER:  It is -- I believe that is correct.  It is probably about three years longer than what they originally expected.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we can go into the next paragraph of that news report, and I am reading toward the end of the paragraph, one, two, three, four, five -- six lines from the bottom:

"The project should ensure an operating life until at least 2034 for the plant, as well as a 25 MW power uprate, but is now the subject of political..."

This is the point that I am interested in:

"...is now the subject of political fighting with the province of New Brunswick seeking federal mediation over the issue of cost overruns."

Do you have any sense as to -- or any information with respect to what the positions of the province and the federal government are with respect to that?  I, once again, go back to the earlier questions I asked about the working group that you are involved with, whether any discussions of this kind of thing have come up.

MR. ROSE:  We certainly have not gotten into any discussions about the role or the thought process behind what the province is thinking, and the federal government, who is pointing fingers at who.  We certainly didn't get into that kind of a discussion.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So you have nothing further to add to this little cryptic comment?

MR. ROSE:  No, other than to agree with you it is a cryptic comment; and we have nothing to add, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's talk about Pickering B.  If we could please go to H1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 8, which is at page 8 of the compendium?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  If we look along the line -- line 6, which is entitled "Pickering B Refurbishment", we see costs of 6.1, 4.3, $1.2 million, and I think those costs total $11.6 million?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are those the costs that would have gone into rate base had this project gone forward?

MR. ROSE:  I believe that these are variance -- are amounts that are included in the variance account.  I am not a complete expert on that, but this is not -- these costs have been incurred to get to that point of that decision.  So my belief is that through the variance process, these costs are already included in the rate base.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If that's your understanding, that's fine.

MR. KEIZER:  But it may be that it is an issue for the deferral and variance account panel, which is the last panel, I believe.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I will ask it again, then.

Can we go, please, then, to page 11 and 12 of the -- I may be ahead of myself.  Just let me check my notes here.

No.  Yes, 11 and 12.  You may have had -- I don't know whether -- I circulated earlier an earlier version of this.  I am not sure which you were referring to.  There was a repetition of material.  So if you are referring to the earlier version, add an extra page.

So what I am looking at is Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 3, page 10 of 13, and I want to talk to you about the Pickering B refurbishment under the heading 6.1.  Are we together?

MR. ROSE:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I understand the spending that we are actually talking about here.

As I understand it - and I am looking at the last paragraph on the page - the refurbishment costs, actual and forecast, are 50.4 million, and 45.8 of that has already been approved.

And so I think even I can do this.  What we're looking at here is $4.6 million?  That is what you were looking for approval for?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROSE:  I think, again, this is a best question for the variance account panel.

I can speak to what those costs were.  I am not certain -- I believe we are seeking recovery of the entire amount, yes, but, again, I believe that is for the variance account panel to respond to.

MR. CROCKER:  Once again, that is panel 10?

MR. REEVE:  Panel 10.

MR. ROSE:  Sorry about that.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you go back to page 9, then?  And this is GEC Interrogatory 23, so it is Issue 4.5, Exhibit L, tab 7, schedule 23.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And there are costs set out there under three headings, environmental studies, safety studies, economic feasibility studies.

And I wonder whether you can compare or reconcile those costs to the costs that are described under heading 6.1:  "Pickering B refurbishment."

MR. ROSE:  I'm sorry, you want me to compare them to which reference point?

MR. CROCKER:  The reference that I just made, that you and I talked about, the 50.4 million, the 45.8 million.  I'm not sure -- they don't seem to match, and I don't --


MR. ROSE:  So I believe that these costs on Exhibit L-7-23 are as of December 2009, which would be the -- let me just do a check, a calculation here -- so this would be the life-to-date 2007 costs of 35.9 on Exhibit F2-2-3, plus the actual 9 million in 2008, plus the actual 4.3 million in 2009.  It is off by one decimal place, but that is a rounding issue.

That 35.9 plus 9 plus 4.3 equals 49.2 million, which is comparable to the total on L-7-23 of 49.1 million.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could you, then, once again go back to H1, tab 1, schedule 1, which is at page 8 of the compendium, and reconcile those costs.  How do they fit?

MR. ROSE:  I believe that these are -- on page 8 -- are a subset of the total costs from April 2008.  Looking at line 6 again, from April 2008, 6.1 is from April to December only.  And 2009, I think is a match, 4.3.  And then the 2010 is also a match of the 1.2.

So it is April -- it is only showing the costs of April 2008 to 2009, and the forecast costs in 2010.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thank you.

And if you go back to page 9 again, the GEC interrogatory, Green Energy Coalition interrogatory?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  In light of the decisions that were made with respect to Pickering B, do any of those costs represent -- let me ask the question another way.

Do those costs represent anything tangible, anything of value today?

MS. SWAMI:  So the costs for the environmental studies and safety studies, I will speak to briefly.

The directive that we received was to begin the feasibility of refurbishing our nuclear units, including an environmental assessment specifically for Pickering B, and that -- do I need to flip to the page?  But it is an attachment.

So we were completing the work that was required to be done.

The CNSC, at the same time that we started our studies, issued a regulatory document that we were required to complete an integrated safety review, and we were required to do the environmental assessment.

And that work was done so that we could understand the scope of work that we needed to do for Pickering B, and --


MR. CROCKER:  Could I interrupt you for two seconds?  And then you can go on.

Do these costs reflect CNSC costs, do you know?

MS. SWAMI:  Yes.  They would be included.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MS. SWAMI:  So --


MR. CROCKER:  Sorry I interrupted.  Go ahead.

MS. SWAMI:  So to go on, so we had to do that work as part of the refurbishment studies.  And as we went through that, we understood the scope, which fed into the feasibility analysis of what the costs would be for refurbishing Pickering B.

So these studies are all tied together, in terms of trying to make a decision on whether to refurbish Pickering B or not.

So as we went through that, we also did studies to understand what the environmental impact would be from our plant, and those studies were up to and including -- up to decommissioning, not including decommissioning.  So it covered not only the refurbishment, but also the continued operation, which of course factors into the continued operation phase of our plant.

The safety studies are much the same.  We understood the scope.  We understood, then, that it was safe to continue to operate Pickering B for an extended period of time of -- whether that is four years or 25 years.

So we understood that.  And we were able to factor that into our continued operations plan for Pickering B.  So all of the work that was done, we used that to build into other programs as we went forward.

MR. CROCKER:  So in answer to my question, are you saying that there is value to these costs?  Or there is no longer any value to these costs?

MS. SWAMI:  Specifically, there is value to the costs.

MR. CROCKER:  And so that we are clear -- perhaps I am the only one who isn't -- can you tell me what portion of these costs you are looking for the Board to approve at this point, and what portion or what amount has already been approved?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. ROSE:  I believe that goes back to the evidence in H, your page --


MR. CROCKER:  Page 8?

MR. ROSE:  Page 8, and the variance and deferral panel.  I think that is the best panel to answer that question.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So I should ask them whether there are any other costs associated with this, or whether they have all been captured in the deferral account, variance and deferral account?

MR. ROSE:  Correct.  I mean, I will tell you that the work under the "Pickering B refurbishment" line item, that work is now complete.  There are no further costs being incurred as an operations under that project.

But that panel will have to respond to how that trues up with the variance process.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Can we -- can I ask you to turn to the last page of the compendium, which is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, and figure 1?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I think you have been asked about this a couple of times.  I won't spend a ton of time on this.

This chart -- I'm sorry, this graph indicates that you have 100-percent confidence that the Darlington LUEC will not be more than 8 cents, and zero percent confidence that it will be below four; is that correct?

MR. ROSE:  I think we would say that we have a very high confidence that the LUEC of the Darlington refurbishment project will be less than 8 cents.

And I referenced this in the testimony a couple of days ago, that it gets very close to 100 percent at the 8 cent.  But there is always -- there is a very small tail.

But we are very confident that it is less than 8 cents; very high confidence.

MR. CROCKER:  If we go to AMPCO Interrogatory 18, which is the reference that I took from the GEC cross-examination materials -- and hopefully I will be able to finish, Madam Chair, in five minutes.

You say in answer to their -- our, sorry, question (c) -- and I think we are dealing with the same issue here.  I will wait for you to turn it up.

You say:

"Our schedule estimates were based upon the details from the re-tube feasibility study prepared for OPG by GE-Hitachi."

Correct?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  When was that done?

MR. ROSE:  That was done in 2009 predominantly.  It may have started in late 2008, but it was certainly done in -- completed in 2009.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we could also go to the transcript reference, and this is the volume -- volume 6, I believe, and it is the questioning of you of -- I will read you the question and answer.  So I don't think you --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you give us a page number, please, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  It is page 192. I'm sorry.  It begins on 191, line 26.  It is an answer, Mr. Reiner, that you gave to Mr. Alexander.  You say -- I will read the question.
"MR. ALEXANDER:  You would agree with me, though, that a key question is whether or not the 6 to 8 cents per -- the 6 to 8 cents LUEC is a reasonable number; correct?"

And you say:
"MR. REINER:  That's correct.  That is absolutely a key question, and part of the work that we are doing and that we will be doing in the definition phase of the project is the analysis, the scoping, the integrated safety review, the environmental assessment.
"It is all intended to help us come to a release-quality cost estimate at this point in time, based on the analysis done to date, based on the probability distributions around the various cost elements that go into the LUEC.  That is the range that we are expecting, that 6 to 8 cents."


In your answers to other questions and in your answer to my question, you sounded pretty confident.  This transcript reference sounds -- makes it sound as if this is still fairly preliminary.  Is that correct, that your analysis at this point is fairly preliminary?

MR. REINER:  The confidence that we have described is that the levelized unit energy cost will be less than 8 cents, and, yes, we are very confident of that.

In answering that question, what I was referring to is the release quality estimate for the project is going to be a point estimate.  It is not going to be a range.  That point estimate for the project will fall inside that range that we have a high degree of confidence in.

And so the work that we are currently undertaking between now and 2014 is all intended for us to get a definitive schedule and a definitive cost estimate against which this project would then get measured, and we expect that to fall inside that LUEC range and inside that range of 6 to 10 billion 2009 overnight dollars, which are part of that LUEC.

MR. CROCKER:  I have one further question on the area, and then one further question beyond that.

In light of the fact that the GE Hitachi report was done when it was, as you say, probably begun in 2008 but done in 2009, and that to some extent, at least, the figure that we have talked about is based upon that information, were the problems at Point Lepreau and Bruce - but particularly I guess at Point Lepreau, maybe both, and Bruce -- known at that point?  And to the best of your knowledge, were they factored in to the report and to your numbers?

MR. ROSE:  So originally when we started our feasibility assessment, we landed on a schedule of approximately 27 months for the Darlington refurbishment project.

When we got into our analysis, and based on the experience from the other refurbishments going on, we did a fairly thorough analysis of reevaluating our schedule.  So within our exhibit, we actually break down our schedule by different phases of the 36-month critical path.

We looked at the experience of defueling as an example.  We looked at what Point Lepreau was projecting at that point.  We looked at what Wolsong was projecting at that point based on our evidence from our working groups.  We looked at our own analysis of what we could comfortably do under that phase, and we did do an analysis, a probabilistic analysis of that.

We did that for each component of the schedule.  So we did update our feasibility assessment based on later information than what was in the original GE report.

We also, in our LUEC range, have built in a high degree of levels of uncertainty to allow us to -- as we get closer to that point estimate, I think that we will still be well within that 6 to 8 cent LUEC range.

So we do have levels of uncertainty based on what we know today.  We have included that level of uncertainty in that 6 to 8 cent LUEC range.  So we still have a very high confidence that we will fall within that range.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have one further question.  It relates to something that was said at page 193 of the transcript, line 15.  You say -- I am not sure I understand whose answer this is:
"If the Board doesn't approve the inclusion..."

I'm sorry, this is a question from the Board.  Thanks.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think it was actually a question from Mr. Alexander, but...

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  It sounds as if it was.
"If the Board doesn't approve the inclusion of the proposed Darlington feasibility studies in rate base for the revenue requirement, will OPG still proceed with the studies?"

And, Mr. Reiner, your answer is, "Yes, we would still proceed."

And my question is:  From where would the money come to allow you to do that?

MR. REINER:  We would need to look at how we fund that internally.  If we cannot start to recover the interest costs, we would still proceed with securing the funding, I mean, as we would normally for the project.  I guess the Board approval on the recovery is whether or not CWIP is approved, and I think that is specifically what the question was looking at:  If that doesn't get approved, would we proceed with the studies?

And we would proceed with the studies, because we still believe that this is a viable alternative.  It is attractive economically, and we would continue to work towards getting that point estimate and to the next milestone, the next decision milestone.

MR. CROCKER:  But...

All right.  I won't pursue it any farther.  Thank you.  I have no further questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  We will take --


MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, can I just say one thing before the break?

AMPCO doesn't have any questions of panel 7, 8, and 9, and so we won't attend for that, but we will monitor and we will be back for panel 10.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  Certainly.  We will take our morning break now for 15 minutes.  Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 10:32 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Just before we begin with Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination, the Board Panel does have one preliminary matter.

Preliminary Matters:


I am just going to read it.  The Board Panel would like to better - these are some follow-on questions that the Board Panel has, following on from its consideration of the hydroelectric panel transcripts.

The Board Panel would like to better understand the potential interactions between the impacts of surplus base load generation on OPG's regulated hydroelectric operations and the hydro incentive mechanism.  We will put some questions on the record now, and would ask that OPG respond by way of written undertaking.  Depending upon the response, it may be necessary to bring one or more of the hydroelectric witnesses back, perhaps to join another panel.

And our questions are the following.

One, does OPG operate the pump storage facility in a way which integrates the considerations of surplus base load generation and the drivers of the hydro incentive mechanism?  And if so, how does it do that?

Two, would it be appropriate for the hydroelectric incentive mechanism to be structured so that the pump storage facility is used to reduce the impact of surplus base load generation as much as possible?

And third, does OPG have any proposals as to how this might be achieved?

So subject to any questions, we will perhaps give that an undertaking number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  That will be undertaking J8.1, and it is to respond to the Board's questions as just read.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  1, DOES OPG OPERATE THE PUMP STORAGE FACILITY IN A WAY WHICH INTEGRATES THE CONSIDERATIONS OF SURPLUS BASE LOAD GENERATION AND THE DRIVERS OF THE HYDRO INCENTIVE MECHANISM?  AND IF SO, HOW DOES IT DO THAT?  2, WOULD IT BE APPROPRIATE FOR THE HYDROELECTRIC INCENTIVE MECHANISM TO BE STRUCTURED SO THAT THE PUMP STORAGE FACILITY IS USED TO REDUCE THE IMPACT OF SURPLUS BASE LOAD GENERATION AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE?  3, DOES OPG HAVE ANY PROPOSALS AS TO HOW THIS MIGHT BE ACHIEVED?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  So unless there are any questions on that...

MR. KEIZER:  I don't believe there is, unless when we start looking at it, we may have some questions to clarify, but not at this point, no.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good.  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Hello, witnesses.  My name is Jay Shepherd, and I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  Before I get into my prepared cross, I do have three follow-up questions from your previous cross-examinations, and so while you've still got the AMPCO materials out, can you just go to page 12 of those materials?

This is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8, and there is a figure there, a LUEC curve.

Do you have that?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.  Yes, I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have really a couple of simple questions.  I want to make sure I am reading this correctly, and I think you may have said this already, that you have a 70 percent probability of a 6 cent LUEC, a 95 percent probability of a 7 cent LUEC under this curve; right?

MR. ROSE:  That is what the curve provides, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that also means you have a 10 percent probability of a 4.8 cent LUEC.  Am I reading that right?

MR. ROSE:  That curve says this, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a scenario in which you have a 4.8 cent LUEC?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.  We do have.  Based on all of the inputs provided, and if all of our inputs came up extremely positive, then we would have a scenario.  All of the inputs are provided in the Monte Carlo.  The Monte Carlo analysis does plot points.  It is a low probability, but there is a probability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That was my first question.

The second question is you just finished your discussion with Mr. Crocker, concerning your discussion the previous day -- on Monday, I guess it was -- with Mr. Alexander, with respect to what happens if you don't get approval for your CWIP in rate base.

I want to ask the broader question that flows from that.  Am I right in understanding that at this point in the project, if this Board Panel were to say to you:  Look, we've heard the evidence.  This doesn't look like a very good project.  Let's just hypothesize that.  I realize that may be unlikely, but let's say.

Do I understand correctly that notwithstanding whatever the Board says, you're planning to proceed with your current plan for Darlington refurbishment, at least for the next two years?  Is that fair?

MR. REINER:  That's fair.  We would proceed with our definition phase work to get to a decision point for our board of directors, which is sort of outlined in that release strategy diagram in our evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

And then my last follow-up question is with respect to your cross-examination by my friend from the Society.  And he asked you about fuels, and I just want to ask -- I am right, am I not, that all of the uranium you buy is from Saskatchewan?

MR. REINER:  I don't know for certain, but I believe you are correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is true, isn't it, that actually Saskatchewan produces about 28 percent of the world's uranium?

MR. REINER:  I don't know that.

MS. SWAMI:  That's my understanding.  We are -– Canada is a world leader in this area, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not in Ontario?

MR. REINER:  It is not in Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was at one time; right?

MR. REINER:  It was at one time, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But not anymore?

MR. REINER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There are only two producers, Cameco and AREVA?

MS. SWAMI:  I'm sorry, by "producers" you mean companies?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The people who own mines, who can sell you yellowcake.

MS. SWAMI:  In?

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Saskatchewan.

MS. SWAMI:  Oh.  Just for clarity, I wasn't sure if you meant worldwide.

I am not sure of the owners of the mines.  It is a mining industry which is separate and distinct from our operations, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  There really sort of fuel panel questions, I get that, but it just came up and so I just -- maybe you can help me with this.

Am I right in understanding that there was a price spike a few years ago in 2007, and that one of the causes of that was that one of those Saskatchewan mines, Cigar Lake, had a flood, and as a result there was a short-term shortage?  Is that something you are aware of?

MS. SWAMI:  I am aware of the flood.  I am also aware that there was a spike.  I don't know specifically the relationship around the cause of the spike.

At that time, there was a lot of other speculation in the market, as well as that particular event.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just thought you might know.  Okay.

So now I have a package of materials headed up "School Energy Coalition Cross-Examination Materials, OPG Panel 6," which I provided to OPG, and you all have that.

MR. REINER:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe that the Board Panel either has it or is about to have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

We will call that Exhibit K8.2, the SEC compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for one page, this is all material that's in the record.  The one page was provided to my friend last night, and we will get to it in a few minutes.

And so what I -- Mr. Alexander and Mr. Poch and Mr. Rubin, and today now Mr. Crocker, have covered a lot of the things I was going to cover, so I only have a few areas to deal with.

Let's start with –- you talked with Mr. Poch on Tuesday about the various approvals you are asking for, and you went through -- and we have included it in these materials at page 4 of our materials -- the -- your evidence at D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 4, the three categories of approvals that you are asking for.

I am not going to take you through that again.  As I understand it, you have the OM&A, you have the campus master plan and you have the CWIP in rate base, are basically the three approvals you are asking for, right, with respect to nuclear -- with respect to Darlington refurbishment?

MR. REINER:  I mean, there isn't a specific approval around campus master plan.  I mean, that is one of the projects that is part and parcel of the capital investment we're making.

So it's the OM&A, the changes in rate base as a result of proceeding with the project, and the increase in rate base to reflect CWIP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And also on Tuesday, you discussed with Mr. Stephenson the various stages of approval of this project, and we have included in our materials at pages 8 and 9 of our -- sorry, pages 8 -- yes, 8 and 9 of our materials, that discussion, which actually, because of how the numbering works out, they're actually pages 87 and 88 of Tuesday's transcript, but they look like 88 and 89 because of the numbers going over top of each other.

But as I understand it, you basically -- you have this sort of mini-approval here, but then two years from now you are going to come back in a payment application and you are going to ask -- you are going to give this Board an update and ask for approval to continue.

And then two years after that, you will have a release-level estimate of the cost, and that is the point at which you will are really ask for approval to go ahead with the project, and you will ask your board first, and then you will come to your regulator; right?  That's the plan?

MR. REINER:  That's the plan.  Now, again, I don't believe we will come here seeking approval to proceed with the project.  What we would come here for is approval to seek -- start seeking recovery of costs associated with the project.

So, for example, if the CWIP approval were not granted, we would be back for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the construct you are working on, this Board actually never formally approves going ahead with the project.  It approves the next step each time, but your board of directors is the one that approves you going ahead with the project?

MR. REINER:  Our board of directors and our shareholder, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  And your go/no-go decision, the formal, 'Okay, we're going to do it' decision is 2014, you currently expect; right?

MR. REINER:  Well, 2014 will be a key milestone.  That is when we will have the release quality estimate to complete the entire project.  But there will still be steps that we will take in releasing those funds.  It won't be a complete release of the entire project.

The release, then, ties to specific units that we're refurbishing.  So we would request to proceed with the first unit and seek the release of funds associated with that work.  So it is still broken down into a series of components, again, intended to provide off-ramps and decision points for the process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there is something special about 2014; right?  That is the first time you actually commit to a number?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right now you are not committing to any numbers?

MR. REINER:  Right now, we have a confidence level associated with the range we believe the number will fall into, and so we have sort of the bounding case, the upper/lower bound that we have a degree of confidence in, but we are not, at this point, committing to a specific number for the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are committing it won't be more than 8 cents LUEC?

MR. REINER:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So in the four years from 2011 to 2014, you are still planning to spend quite a bit of money; right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so we tried to figure out how much that is going to be, and I wonder if you can -- to assist us with that, you can look at Pollution Probe IR No. 14.  It is in page 5 of our materials, and this is Exhibit L, tab 10, schedule 14, under Issue 4.5.  Do you have that?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is your current expectation up to 2014 when you are going to have this release estimate.  This is your current expectation as to how much you are going to spend on the capital side; right?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is all of your capital spending related to this project?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is, like, the campus master plan, for example, which you talked about.  That is in there?

MR. REINER:  That's included in there, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And anything else -- anything else that you are currently asking to be CWIP in rate base, that is in this -- in here?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so if I understand this correctly, by the end of 2012 you expect to have spent about $435 million on this project on capital, only; right?

MR. ROSE:  Sorry, the end of which year.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2012.  Maybe you can just accept that subject to check.

MR. ROSE:  Yes.  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I actually asked that once and found that my math was out by, I think it was, $100 million or something, so the subject to check really is a check.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the end of 2012, let's say the decision at the end of 2012 was to shut it down, all right?  You have done some more investigation; not a good idea.

At that point, you will have spent $435 million, but am I right that you also will probably have outstanding commitments, because when you shut something down, there are things that carry on that you will have to meet at that time?  Is that a reasonable assumption?

MR. REINER:  That is very possible.  I mean, we would expect by 2012 to have already engaged some of the key contractors that we would be working with.

Now, obviously we would structure those contracts to give us the flexibility that is needed to align with our release strategy, but there is a potential that there are wind-down costs, if you will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they're not $200 million, but they're not nothing either; right?  They could be substantial?

MR. REINER:  I wouldn't hazard a guess at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to assume that it will be a material number?

MR. REINER:  Probably fair to assume, yes.  I would say what you should not assume is that you could draw a line in this table at the end of 2012 and those are the entire costs.  There very likely would be more costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

MR. REINER:  And it'd probably be a material number, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then same thing at the end of 2014.  By that time, when you have this release estimate, the sort of more formal go/no-go decision on the project, by that time, by my math, you will have spent on capital, only, about $1.2 billion; right?

MR. REINER:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I could be out by a billion or so.

And, again, you might have commitments at that time, as well?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then we went to -- and that is only capital; right?

MR. REINER:  This is the entire project cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then we went to your Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 6.  This is at page 2 of our materials.  This is a page, page 6, from your nuclear refurbishment financial plan.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry it is not in colour.  Your colour copies are very nice, but we could only use the black and white machine this morning.

And I am right, am I not, that what you told your board is that, as of the end of 2014, you expect to have spent a little over $1.3 billion on the Darlington refurbishment; right?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that includes not just the capital, but also OM&A and perhaps other things?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is that a good number to use, the amount you are going to spend before you decide to make a final decision to go ahead, about 1.3 billion?

MR. ROSE:  At this point in time, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, wonderful.  And during this period, you are also going to have some outages associated with the work to get to 2014?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  And those would have already been accounted for in the nuclear base OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  They're not in this chart; right?

MR. REINER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they do exist somewhere?

MR. REINER:  They do exist.  I mean, this chart would include costs associated for inspections that are specifically geared towards providing data for the refurbishment project.  So that would be included in this chart, but there are regular maintenance outages that would occur in the station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I am not talking about those.  I am talking only about the outages that will take place solely because of the refurbishment.

MR. REINER:  Yes.  Now, there wouldn't be additional outages.  What we would look to do is, in the existing outage schedule, include the activities that we need to include in order to provide data that we require for the refurbishment project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not expecting to lose any more production than you would otherwise --


MR. REINER:  Our production plan is per what was presented in the nuclear base OM&A panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that is not what I am asking.  I understand that.  But what I am asking is:  That production plan, does it assume that you are going to lose some production because of the maintenance outage, but also the fact that you have to do other things due to the refurbishment, that increases the amount of production you lose; yes or no?

MR. REINER:  We don't see impacting the critical path on outages as a result of this work.  So, no, we would not foresee a negative impact on production.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The period of the outage -- each outage will remain the same.  You will just have more people in doing other things?

MR. REINER:  Right, right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  I understand that.  Just one other question on this page 2 of our materials.

The lines for OM&A say campus plan infrastructure, and they don't look like the OM&A numbers that you have in your application.  So I am wondering if there is additional OM&A on top of these that are included in your OM&A budget?

MR. ROSE:  I believe that the -- you are looking at the -- I will give you our exhibit number, because I am going to point you to a different page.

You are looking at Exhibit D2-2-1, attachment 1, and your reference is page --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Six.

MR. ROSE:  -- six in that exhibit?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. ROSE:  And there are some OM&A expenditures under the campus plan infrastructure, as you note.

In addition, there are some OM&A expenditures on page 3 of that same exhibit, relating to our SVP office and what we call general engineers in training.  That is also included within the OM&A numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're not in this nuclear refurbishment financial plan?

MR. ROSE:  When you say "this nuclear refurbishment financial plan" you're referring to page 6?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 6.  I asked you:  Is this $1.3 billion the right number?  You said yes, but it actually doesn't include some of the OM&A you expect to spend on this project, does it?

MR. ROSE:  So it is page 6, plus the information in page 3, is the total amount of OM&A that we're going to spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you to undertake to provide an updated version of your Darlington refurbishment plan to 2014, that gives us all costs, wherever they are in your application.

Could you do that?  If it is only adding one line, that's great.

MR. ROSE:  I believe we have already done that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. ROSE:  I believe that the chart 2 in page 12 of 17 is the capital amounts.  I believe we have in evidence... sorry, in chart 2 on page 12 of 17, in Exhibit D2-2, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Give me a sec.

MR. ROSE:  So chart 2, we have -- are you there, sorry?  I will wait a minute.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reference is D2, tab 2, schedule 1?

MR. ROSE:  Page 12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, attachment 1, page 12?

MR. ROSE:  Schedule 1, page 12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Schedule 1, page 12?  Okay.  Sorry, page 12 of the main document.

MR. ROSE:  If that chart --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I see.  I see, yes.  Yes, yes, yes.

MR. ROSE:  That chart shows the OM&A cash flows to 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that doesn't give you '13 and '14?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  That chart does not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So back to the undertaking, I just want to simplify this.  I just want to have in one place total costs, year-by-year, Darlington refurbishment.  And it seems to me that this financial plan that you gave your Board has everything except one line; is that right?

So can you just add that line, whatever it is, so that we can see it all in one place?  Can you do that?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the answer is complete.  I don't know why we have to produce a chart.  His answer is:  Look at this line on page -- I think it is page 2, and add that to the line on page 6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the reference that I have been given goes to 2012.  I am asking for the entire period until the board of directors decides to go ahead with the project, of which we have everything but.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe I misheard the witness, but I thought when you were exploring the question relating to -- I believe it was the chart at page 2 of your –- sorry, at page 2 of your compendium, which was page 6 of the business plan, he took you back to an earlier page, which said but you have to add in the SVP program.

I thought that that was his complete answer, that that then gets you to the full costs.  It was one line.

I don't know.  I guess I am looking at the issue of -- I am not sure why we have to take an undertaking just to add a line to a chart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  If what you're telling me is there is nothing more than what is on page 3 of this material -- is that what you're telling me?

MR. ROSE:  Sorry, page 3 and page 6 together for 2012 equal page 2 –- sorry, page 12 of 17 on our schedule 1 exhibit.

MR. KEIZER:  I think, though, Mr. Shepherd is asking about also 13 and 14 that is shown on page 3 and 6 of that.

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  That is everything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will do it ourselves.  I will leave it there.

You had a discussion on Tuesday with Mr. Rubin about how you are planning this project, and you mentioned two things that I want to explore.

You don't need to look to the transcript unless you want to, because this is more conceptual.

If I understand -- you said you are planning this project differently than you have done in the past; right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as I understand, the two main things you talked about are you are dividing the project into phases with specific milestones, so that you have more control over the individual things you have to do to get there; right?

MR. REINER:  Correct.  That was one element, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I heard that, and I thought I must be misunderstanding that, because I first saw Harvard Project Manager –- you remember that? -- in 1988, and it was software that did exactly what you just described.

And so I don't understand what is different from what you are doing now than what we had software for 22 years ago.

I mean, you have more sophisticated tools for it, I understand.  But is it something conceptually different than what we did then, PERT charts and Gantt charts and critical paths and all that stuff?

MR. REINER:  I think your question was what are we doing -- I apologize.  I am just going to repeat it back to you.  What are we doing differently inside OPG on this project then we have done inside OPG on previous projects?

So one of those things is that we are adopting industry best practices.  And you referenced some of those, and those industry best practices are not new.  They have been around for a while.

But one of the lessons learned to us, we did not apply those same best practices to the same level of rigor in prior projects as we are to this project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you --


MR. REINER:  So that is how I would characterize it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You still did step-by-step project plans in the past; right?  You are going to do them better now?  You are going to have more rigour to the process?

MR. REINER:  Step-by-step, and also -- so in the past, and there was a line of questioning that -- a couple of days ago, that talked about Pickering A and an estimate for Pickering A that was done in 1999.  So a point estimate was declared for the Pickering A return-to-service units.

We have not declared a point estimate for this project without first completely understanding what the total scope of work is going to be.  And so that is another key difference.

So we have provided a range of estimates.  Our point estimate will arrive when we have some assurances that we have a complete understanding of what that regulatory scope will require us to do, what the EA scope will require us to do, and what the technical components are that we need to replace to get the station to the end of its next life, prior to putting a release-quality estimate on the table.

Now, on the Pickering unit 1 experience, we, in fact, did that.  There was still an early estimate out there that dated back to 1999, but prior to seeking approval to proceed with the project, we did actually take all of that information from assessments that were done.  And we came up with a revised estimate, which was that $900 million estimate, and then the project came in at $1.016 billion.

So we got what I would say is relatively close to delivery on budget, and that is the practice that is being incorporated here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it sounds like what you're saying is:  We are not doing anything that is conceptually different.  What we're doing is we're doing it more cautiously, more carefully.  We are applying more rigour to the process.  We always understood how to do this; we just weren't doing it as well as we could have.

MR. REINER:  And we are allowing for much more time, which is another component; right?  We are not compressing the time where we then don't have the ability to adequately go through all of the assessments that need to be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the other thing you said to Mr. Rubin on Tuesday was that one of the things this approach gives you is multiple off-ramps during the process.  There are points in time where you can say:  Okay, these numbers don't work any more.  We are not happy with this; right?

MR. REINER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, those off-ramps are two types; right?  They're off-ramps that say:  We are not going to do this unless we fix the problem, or we are not going to do this at all?

MR. REINER:  That's right.  There would be a decision, and a series of options that you would look at if a decision is required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that sort of milestones and project planning, again, that is not new; right?

MR. REINER:  That is industry best practice, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you will agree with me that off-ramps come at a price?  That is, if you exercise the off-ramp and say:  No, we are not going to do it anymore, you have some wasted money or some stranded assets, typically?

MR. REINER:  I would agree, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to move, now, to a continuation of the discussion of LUEC, but from perhaps a different point of view.

LUEC is the marginal costs per unit of production of one option versus another option; right?

MR. REINER:  Well, it isn't the marginal cost.  It's the unit price over the life of the asset at which the -- at which you break even.  It is sort of the break-even point where you recover the total costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But that is not what I am asking, because --


MR. REINER:  You asked me what LUEC was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said total costs, and it is not total costs, is it, because sunk costs are excluded; right?

MR. ROSE:  It is incremental go-forward costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is marginal?

MR. REINER:  Well, I don't know that that is a marginal cost.  An investment in the refurbishment of the station to run it for another 25 to 30 years, I wouldn't characterize that as a marginal cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All of the existing costs that are in your rate base and all of the capital costs that you are still going to rely on, right, none of that is in your LUEC?

MR. ROSE:  I mean, I am trying to understand what your question is here.  Our LUEC is looking at the total costs going forward, but let's say, as an example, there is some depreciation of that asset from the first life.  When we make a decision to extend that life, the depreciation in that rate base is still there.  That is all -- that's all calculated and included.  I am not sure if that is getting where you're asking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You also have existing assets, right, and the value of those existing assets in a LUEC calculation is zero; correct?

MR. ROSE:  We don't look at it that way.  We look at that incremental cost, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So do I...

MR. REINER:  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINER:  Just so I can understand, when you mean existing assets, are you talking about other assets outside of Darlington?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am talking about Darlington.

MR. REINER:  About the Darlington asset itself.  Well, with the decision to move forward with the refurbishment, the depreciation -- the accounting requires us to make an adjustment to the depreciation.  There is a series of knock-on effects resulting from that which are captured in the tables in the evidence.  But those are captured in the LUEC calculation.

Now, what has been depreciated already historically, that would not be in that LUEC calculation.  So, you know, it is from this point in time forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's actually new to me, so let me just explore that for a bit.

Let's say you have a building there; right?  You have an existing building.  You are not going to replace it.  You are going to use it for another 30 years; right?  Just hypothetically, there is a building there; right?

That building is currently being depreciated at X dollars a year.  Because you are extending the life of the asset, you are now saying, Well, the depreciation should be less in the current years, because it is going to go out for a longer period of time; right?

MR. REINER:  And...

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the value of deferring that depreciation is included in your LUEC calculation?  See, I didn't think it was, and that's why I'm asking.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINER:  Yes.  I can't say for certain whether that is included or not.  We would have to check and see whether that is in the LUEC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I am going to ask you to give us an undertaking, but I want to finish the components first and maybe we will just put them altogether.

The other major ones that would be affected are asset retirement obligations, and things like decommissioning and fuel disposal costs, right, are heavily influenced by the extension; right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you put those out a number of years, then your current costs of those goes down substantially.

And so do you know whether those are in the LUEC?

MR. REINER:  No, I don't know offhand whether those are in the LUEC.  We'd have to see.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you if you can provide an undertaking to take a look at least those things, and if there is anything else of that type that is either in or out, can you let us know?

MR. ROSE:  We are already done an IR response to that, number L-7-39, which talks about decommissioning.  As a result -- it says here:
"As a result, the Levelized Unit Energy Cost evaluation for Darlington Generating Station assumed zero future payments into the Decommissioning Fund for the Darlington Generating Station decommissioning."


There is actually a more thorough response in that IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is L-7...

MR. ROSE:  Thirty-nine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah-hah.  And so LUEC is not in there, is not in the calculation, but -- sorry, not LUEC.

Decommissioning costs are not in the LUEC calculation, but you are assuming that this new power has zero decommissioning costs?

MR. ROSE:  I think it says here -- I'll just read what it says here:
"The Decommissioning Fund was determined to be fully funded and no additional contributions were required."


MR. REEVE:  Just to be clear on your question, you are asking about the impact on decommissioning costs.  I think your earlier statements were more accurate, in that the extension of life at Darlington will result in actual -- in present value terms, a reduction in decommissioning costs.

There is another impact on waste management which is actually an increase, because of increased fuel bundles.

The impacts of those on rate base and revenue requirement are described in the tables in evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't figure out whether they were in or out of the LUEC, so that's why I am asking you the question.

So could we have the undertaking and maybe that will clarify it?

MR. ROSE:  To repeat back, the undertaking is a summary of the key elements into the LUEC related to fuel, decommissioning, depreciation, waste management, asset retirement costs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the extent to which the costs of existing assets influence the LUEC.

MR. ROSE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF THE KEY ELEMENTS RELATED TO FUEL, DECOMMISSIONING, DEPRECIATION, WASTE MANAGEMENT, ASSET RETIREMENT COSTS AND THE EXTENT TO WHICH THE COSTS OF EXISTING ASSETS INFLUENCE THE LUEC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am right, am I not, that as you go forward and spend money on the project your LUEC changes, right, because LUEC always looks forward?

MR. ROSE:  We will look at -- the LUEC, as an incremental portion of all the costs incurred under this project, will always be considered within our LUEC evaluation.

So the LUEC, as we go forward in the project and we find our estimate, we hope that the range of uncertainty decreases and we get to a closer banded LUEC within the current range, but we don't expect that the LUEC will change.  For this project, we will look at the entire incremental portion of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we are not going to see in 2014, when you calculate a LUEC, that it won't include that 1.3 billion you have already spent, because you already spent it?

MR. ROSE:  That is costs that are within the project.  We will always report those as being part of the project; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  LUEC is -- as you said, it is a bottom-up sort of calculation of costs.  It produces -- its output is cost; right?

In the private sector, typically you use net present value or discounted cash flow for a similar purpose, right; that is, to determine the economic viability of a project?

That is quite a different calculation; right?

MR. REINER:  It is very different, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason it is different is that it assumes a revenue stream and says, Can we make money at this revenue stream; right?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you haven't done a net present value or a DCF for this project; right?

MR. REINER:  We have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. REINER:  Well, an NPV calculation - which, as you said, it relies on cash inflows and cash outflows - it is very sensitive to assumptions around cash inflows.

To project forward 25 to 30 years on what the revenue inflows would be, that's a high degree of variability.

So what we have opted to do is look at -- you know, it goes back to an assessment of what is the most economic option to meet this base load generation requirement, and then the cost comparison becomes the more relevant comparison, in the absence of being able to predict with some degree of confidence what that cash inflow might look like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand why you are asking the question -- you, OPG, is asking the question:  What's the most economic option?  Surely that is OPA's job, and that your job is to see whether you can do this profitably.

MR. REINER:  Our job is to do this at the lowest cost that we can do it at, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right, am I not, that no matter what forecasts you have of the market price of electricity in Ontario over the next 30 years, that stream of revenues will never come close to covering the costs of this Darlington refurbishment; right?  There is no scenario in which that is the case; right?

MR. REINER:  Well, if the -- I mean, if you relate it back to LUEC, a 6 to 8 cent dollar-per-kilowatt-hour for every kilowatt-hour that is produced will recover the full cost.  And so if that is a reasonable market price, then yes, there is a full cost recovery.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have access to current forecasts of Ontario market prices; right?

MR. REINER:  We have access to what the IESO publishes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of them have forecast prices sufficient to cover the costs of this project, do they?  Let me put it a different way.  Maybe I am just asking the question wrong.

The cost of this project is going to increase the market price in Ontario, isn't it?  That is what this hearing is about, is about how much subsidy OPG gets.


MR. REINER:  It is going to increase the rate that consumers pay for electricity, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you said that -- I think you have said that you have a 95-percent confidence level that you will be 7 cents or better; right?  That's what your LUEC says, your LUEC --


MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is there any reason why you wouldn't just say:  We'll take a 7 cent contract for 30 years, whatever we produce, and we will take the risk?  Why wouldn't you do that?  Like the wind generators and the solar generators and the old NUGs, why wouldn't you do the same thing?

MR. REINER:  That is not an option that is available to us under the current regime.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And if it were, you would be interested?

MR. REINER:  I think if that is an option that were available, we would certainly evaluate it, and we would include it as part of our assessment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the business world, there is another question that is asked when you do economic analysis, and I assume you have done the same thing.

You ask, first:  Are we happy with our estimates?  And is it economic at these numbers?  But the other question you ask is at what price, at what cost would we decide not to do this project.  Have you done that analysis?

MR. REINER:  We haven't done an analysis that establishes sort of a threshold of, you know, when we would stop.  It's probably something that we would look at.  I mean, we -- and the way we would do that is, again, you know, as Mr. Rose had said, we would always -- as we go forward and we refine the estimate and we recalculate the LUEC, that LUEC will include the all-in costs.  We will always compare it to the next best available option to meet that same -- that same requirement of base load power.

So the combined-cycle gas, for example, is an option that's there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So right now, your threshold would, in effect, be the predicted cost of a combined-cycle gas turbine?

MR. REINER:  That is the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it was going to cost more than that, you would have to say:  No, we shouldn't do this.  Is that fair?

MR. REINER:  Well, if it was going to cost more than that, we would certainly have to identify that, that it would cost more than that.

Now, we are still -- you know, let me go back to another point.

I mean, we are operating under direction that we received from our shareholder, which was to look at, you know, the feasibility of refurbishing our assets.  The decision was made as a result of that, concurred by the shareholder, so there is an element of direction from the shareholder that's driving the process.

But we would certainly identify, if the LUEC costs went above a combined-cycle gas, yes, we would identify that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to make sure I didn't -- I don't put words in your mouth.

You are not suggesting that the only reason you are doing this refurbishment is because the minister told you to?  Your internal assessment is it is a good idea; right?

MR. REINER:  Well, our internal assessment is that it is the lowest-cost option available to meet those base load energy needs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn to page 3 of our materials, which is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3.  And this is, as I understand it, the revenue requirement impact of this project over 2011 and 2012, and I have included here -- I think Mr. Poch discussed this with you, but not in detail -- I have included, I think, the current version of this.  Tell me whether I am right, that this is the current version of this table.

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  It is the current version.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if I read this right, a number of brackets means it's a reduction in revenue requirement; right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So going ahead with this results in an almost $200 million reduction in revenue requirement over the two years; right?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, I mean, my reaction is we need more projects like that.  We can get the costs right down.  But the reason for this is the positive variances in asset retirement obligations; right?  If it weren't for that --


MR. REEVE:  It is partly that.  There are a couple of impacts that are happening here.

And maybe if I can take you to the tables that really provide the context for that, one of them is just -- this chart replicates that table, and that is table 1 -- table 2, sorry, in D2-T2-S1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?  D2-T2-S1?

MR. REEVE:  Table 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 2?

MR. REEVE:  It is a replication of the chart that you included in your compendium on page 3.  It just provides references to other exhibits in the prefiled evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

MR. REEVE:  So you can see that the primary drivers for the decrease in revenue requirement are what are described in lines 5 and 6 as asset retirement costs and extension to Darlington service life impacts.

Really, that is driven by two things.  One is the increase in the asset retirement costs that occurred on January 1, 2010 with the decision to proceed to the definition phase of the refurbishment project.  And that's described in an interrogatory, and that is L1-1-32, so we can quickly turn to that.  I can just give you some context for that change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVE:  L-1-132, and what interrogatory describes is the impact of the Darlington refurbishment decision on our obligations for decommissioning and nuclear waste, across both the prescribed and the Bruce facilities.

And then provides the link, as required by generally accepted accounting principles, with the asset retirement costs.

So you end up with an increase in asset retirement costs, January 1, 2010, of 475 million.

And there is a table that is provided in this Board interrogatory, which really summarizes the derivation of that number.  That is one facet of this adjustment.

The second facet is really the extension of the life for depreciation purposes.

So when we enter the definition phase, then we extend the life of depreciation from 2019 to 2051.

And going back to the table that I first referred you to, which is D2, T2, S1, table 2, those are the impacts that you can see summarized in lines 5 and 6, and there are consequent tax impacts of those adjustments.

They're required for accounting and result in a reduction in depreciation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, let's just divide this impact up.

You have impacts associated with when you have to decommission the facility and clean everything up; right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  So what the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  February 1.  Then category 2 is you have impacts associated with running the station another 30 years and, therefore, depreciating over a longer period of time?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are the two main areas that are giving you credits?

MR. REEVE:  Well, I mean, there is a link between the two, in that the asset retirement cost is actually an increase in our fixed assets.  So you've got a larger asset value, but it is being depreciated over a longer period of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess the reason I raise that, ask the question that way, is because the depreciation extension can only happen if you are running it for another 30 years; right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the decommissioning at 30 years later is a decision you could make tomorrow; right?  You could decide to mothball it and hold it for 30 years and decommission it later, and wouldn't you reduce the costs that way, too?  You might not be allowed to do it from an accounting point of view, but you could make that decision and defer the costs; right?

MR. REEVE:  You are right, in that that is required for accounting for the other part of your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is why this is a benefit of the Darlington refurbishment, just putting off an expense you have to pay, anyway?

MS. SWAMI:  My comments will be more around the decommissioning process.  The decommissioning process for our nuclear facilities requires us to shut down and place the units into a safe storage state for a period of about 30 years, at which time we move into dismantling, where the work would be done to remove all of the equipment and essentially return to a brownfield site.

So that work is already factored into some of the material that I believe my colleague is referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but what happens, if you run Darlington another 30 years, is that you then have 30 years after that --


MS. SWAMI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- of safe storage.  Thirty years is no magic; right?  It could be 60 years?

MS. SWAMI:  At this time, our plan is for about 30 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You could choose 60 and get the same benefit; isn't that correct?

MS. SWAMI:  I am not speaking to the financial side of this, but I can say that 30 years is typically what we would expect to do.  I agree with you, if you extended it for 60 years, there would be a different look at the accounting methodology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The impact of delay which you are getting from Darlington would be roughly the same, whether you just decide to delay it or whether you delay it because you are running the facility; right?  Same thing?

MS. SWAMI:  There are many different factors that have to go into consideration of how long you stay in a safe storage state.

MR. REEVE:  What I would add is, just from an accounting standpoint, the adjustments that we have made to our asset retirement obligation - that is, our obligation for decommissioning and managing our nuclear waste - is consistent with the approach that we have previously taken for accounting.

We are not introducing any new assumptions, other than extending the life of Darlington, looking at the impact on decommissioning costs and the impact on nuclear waste costs across the prescribed facilities in the Bruce.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing you have here -- take a look at line 20 of page 3 of our materials.  You are also saying that you have a saving because the ARO for Bruce is also delayed; right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help us understand that.

MR. REEVE:  I can point you to interrogatory L-4-20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Under issue?

MR. REEVE:  Sorry, this is under Issue number 4.5.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVE:  In essence, the decrease in depreciation results from the way in which -- the asset retirement obligation increase, the results from Darlington is allocated across the prescribed facilities and across the Bruce.

There are certain obligations which are shared amongst the stations, and the resulting allocation of those costs actually results in a reduction of the asset retirement costs for Bruce.  So, in essence, you've got a lower balance that you are depreciating over the same period of time; hence, a reduction in depreciation expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the ARO is basically a shared cost, and so everybody who is sharing in the cost benefits if it goes down?

MR. REEVE:  I will take you back to the Board interrogatory L-1-132.  That summarizes the impact across the different stations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. REEVE:  There are certain programs that are shared.  There are certain programs that are station-specific, such as decommissioning is station-specific.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks to me like somewhere 
between -- for each year -- or let me ask a different question.

You haven't decided to go ahead with this project; right?  There is no decision to go ahead with Darlington refurbishment formally made yet?

MR. REINER:  The decision that has been made is proceed with the definition phase, achieve a certain series of milestones, come back to the board for a decision on release of funds to continue the project pending, you know, the outcome of that phase.

What has not been done is a full release of funds to proceed with the project.  That has not been done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I ask that is I don't understand why your accounting already assumes that Darlington will run another 30 years and you are getting -- building all of these benefits into the rate base, if you haven't decided to go ahead yet.  Why would you do that?

MR. REEVE:  When we enter the definition phase of the project, as my colleague described, what we do for accounting is we start to capitalize expenditures.

There is a chart that is in the prefiled evidence which really shows the crossover between initiation and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking is a much simpler question.

MR. REEVE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Conceptually, if you haven't decided to build this yet, why are you -- why does your accounting assume that you are going to build it and operate it the way you hope?  It is a conceptual question, it is not a number question.

I will get to the numbers in a minute.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REEVE:  Sorry.  With the decision to enter the definition phase for accounting, that is our trigger for capitalizing expenditures.  So once we enter the definition phase, that has been our policy and that is what we have done on previous projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that in 2014, if there was a decision not to go ahead with this, let's say, hypothetically again, your board of directors -- this Board says, No, don't do it, or the government says, Don't do it.  Then in addition to the $1.3 billion of costs that will have been lost, you will also have to come back to the ratepayers and say, Well, over the last four years, you've been paying $150, $200 million less than you should have, and we now have to change our accounting back and you owe us $500 or $600 million; isn't that right?

You will have to adjust it back the other way; right?

MR. REEVE:  We would have to assess whether there is any recoverability of the capital expenditures that we have made.  If there is not, then we would write those expenditures off.  We would assess whether there is any eligibility for recovery.

The mechanisms for which that might happen would be addressed by a later panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And, in fact, you are asking this Board right now to allow you to recover it today; right?  You want that $1.3 billion in rate base now, not later?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REEVE:  So what we're asking approval for is summarized on page 4 of Exhibit D2-T2-S1.  That's the bullet points that we have previously discussed, the OM&A, the accounting impacts on rate base and revenue requirement in the test period, and the increase in CWIP, which I think is what your question is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, my original question was something else, and that is:  You have changed the accounting so that the payment amounts are lower in this year and next year, and presumably until you decide whether to go ahead or not.  If you decide not to go ahead, you have to change the accounting back, don't you?  You have to accelerate your ARO.  You have to change your depreciation rates back to the way they were; right?

MR. REEVE:  So we would have to revisit -- you are correct.  We would have to revisit the assumptions that we have made around depreciation.  There probably would be a shortening of life, reverting back to what we originally had.  There would be a review of our obligations, that's correct, and there is a corresponding impact on asset retirement costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So my last question relates to this thing we sent you the other day, yesterday, which is at page 6 of our materials.

I will just explain what this is.  This is something that was shown to me more years ago than I would care to say, but let's say it was -- it had an "8" in it.

A project manager said:  Those of us who run projects, we have a rule of thumb that we use for estimates, and there is five numbers in a project.

There is a first number at concept, which is 40 percent of the final.  There is a second number at the time you get approval, which is 60 percent of the number.  There is a third number at about a few weeks into the project, when they realize the problems that you didn't forecast, which is 75 percent.  And then there is a point at which the project is in trouble that you have a real estimate, which is 90 percent.  And then you have the final number.

I have only one question about this.  I am not putting this to you as something that is true.  I am asking you:  You guys all manage projects; right?  Is this something that you've seen, things like this in various forms?  That project managers put this on their wall.  Yes, this is how estimates proceed.

The only reason I am asking this is because the 250 percent that Mr. Alexander was talking about, is right there, and I thought:  I've seen that number before.

So I am asking you is this rule of thumb something you've seen or something like it?

MR. REINER:  We have not seen it, nor is this a rule of thumb that we incorporate into our planning.

As a matter of fact, if I had a project manager working for me that used this, he would no longer be working for me.  Because this says that we:  You know, we can't plan.  We can't do the assessing.  We can't manage the project, and we will tell you after the fact what the cost is.

So no, it is not a rule of thumb and it is not something that we use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I will start with a quick follow-up to something Mr. Shepherd was discussing with regard to the LUEC calculation.

Do I understand for the calculation of LUEC, you do include in that calculation corporate support costs related to Darlington?  I am looking, for example, at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 4, page 34 of 35.  This is the sensitivity analysis.

MR. ROSE:  Yes, those costs of -- when you are looking at that chart, that page 34 of 35, that is showing you the sensitivity analysis of the corporate support costs.  If you actually look to page 31 of 35, it does talk about the costs associated with annual support and overhead costs.  And they do -- there is reference to nuclear support costs, and corporate support and overhead costs.

MR. MILLAR:  And the corporate support costs are estimated about 40 million; is that right?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.  That's incremental costs related to Darlington.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn up Staff IR 90?  That is exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 90.  It is Issue 6.9.  I am looking in particular at page 5 of that interrogatory response.

MR. ROSE:  We have it in front of us.

MR. MILLAR:  If you look at page 5, there is a chart showing centralized support and administrative costs.  About two-thirds down the way, you will see a line:  "Total corporate support and administration."  And if you skip across to the end, you have the total for regulated nuclear, and I see $252.3 million.

Do you see that?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if Darlington -- absent the refurbishment, I understand Darlington will shut down somewhere around 2018 to 2020; is that right?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if that were to -- that's the bulk of your nuclear business, is it not?  Darlington?  You would have Pickering B and maybe Pickering A, but Darlington...

MR. ROSE:  It is less than half of the Pickering A and B together.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But in 2020, is Pickering –- I guess we don't know for sure.

MS. SWAMI:  By 2020, Pickering B is planned to be shut down.  The end-of-life for Pickering B that we have currently assessed is for 2020, and that would have shutdown of units starting in 2018, so that -- that would be a similar time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess my question is -- you only have $40 million allocated to Darlington of these corporate support costs, but the total, at least for 2012, is $252 million.  Isn't a bigger portion of that attributable to Darlington than about 40 million?

I am looking forward to 2020.  I recognize this isn't showing 2020, but if we can use this as a base.

I guess I am surprised that the number isn't higher than 40 million.

MR. ROSE:  I think in Exhibit D2-2-1, attachment 4, page 31, again referring back to my previous placement, fully-allocated corporate support and overheads for Darlington is 145 million.

MR. MILLAR:  But which number did you use for the purposes of the LUEC calculation?

MR. ROSE:  The LUEC is looking at the incremental, which is the 40 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Very quickly, just one other area.  This is a follow-up to Mr. Poch's cross-examination.  He was asking you, obviously, about the refurbishment, and he noted that you were not planning to replace the steam generators as part of the refurbishment.

Do you recall that?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you gave some examples of other, I assume, similar refurbishments where these steam generators were not replaced.

Do you recall that?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You didn't mention Bruce in that list.  My understanding is that Bruce is replacing its steam generators as part of the refurbishment; does that sound correct?

MR. ROSE:  Bruce Power is replacing its steam generators, and if we did proceed with the Pickering B refurbishment, we would replace the steam generators there as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, say again?

MR. ROSE:  If we did proceed with the Pickering B, in our analysis of Pickering B, the steam generators would have needed to be replaced at Pickering B as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I confused Darlington and Pickering B.  I thought you were saying something else.  Okay.

So what is the difference between Darlington and Pickering B -- pardon me, Bruce and Pickering B and Darlington?

MR. REINER:  There is quite a bit of difference.  There is a lot that has happened in our maintenance and operations practices related to proper water chemistry control.

And for the Darlington plant, given sort of where it sits in terms of its life relative to the other plants, it was a key beneficiary of that.

Bruce Power had some other issues that they needed to deal with, which required their steam generators to be replaced.  There was some foreign material, for example, that was left inside one of the steam generators, that resulted in a metallurgical reaction that deteriorated their steam generators.

Pickering Also suffers from, well, I guess a couple of things different, different types of materials.  There was an evolution in the technology.  But also an era of where our knowledge about the impacts of proper chemistry control of our systems weren't fully known.

For Darlington, it was.  We have managed that very well.  And our assessments indicate that we don't need to replace the steam generators.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you have looked at the experience at Bruce?

MR. REINER:  We have.

MR. MILLAR:  You are aware of the reasons they are replacing their steam generators?

MR. REINER:  We are.

MR. MILLAR:  And those specific issues are not issues at Darlington; is that fair?

MR. REINER:  They're not issues at Darlington.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the same true of Pickering B?  Whatever issues that would have led to a steam generator replacement there are not issues for Darlington?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Hare has some questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I would like you to take you to Exhibit D-2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 10 of 17.  This is your refurbishment release strategy.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  You have spoken about this quite a bit over the last couple of days, and you have spoken about the milestones so that your Board would have comfort that this project is progressing well, but I am trying to understand what the milestones are.

I can understand the milestone in 2014 after detailed planning, but where are the other milestones that you would be taking to your board?

MR. REINER:  Are you referring to the ones beyond 2014?

MS. HARE:  No.  I am referring to the ones before 2014.  So that, otherwise, it looks to me like you are continuing on for four years spending this $1.3 billion, but what exactly would the board see in terms of milestones to determine whether, in 2011, they pull the plug or 2012?

MR. REINER:  Okay.  So these milestones that we've depicted here align with release of funds.  So they're significant milestones and they're depicted.

We report back to our board at every board meeting, and included in that is a -- there are a variety of reports, status updates specifically around Darlington refurbishment where we will report on key milestones and how we are progressing relative to those milestones, any issues that are arising out of that, what we're doing to manage those issues.

There is also a major project reporting process that we have that separately reports up the costs at each board meeting, and that report is a monthly report and the board sees it at each board meeting.

MS. HARE:  I have another question about --


MR. ROSE:  Sorry, can I elaborate any further?

MS. HARE:  Please.

MR. ROSE:  In our release strategy, you will see that we've got 0.5 in alignment with middle of 2014.  We also have a 0.4 at the end of 2011.  So we will be going back to our board with a refreshed feasibility assessment, economic assessment late next year.  And if anything has changed in our assumptions, we will characterize those at that time.

So we are doing a formal refresh, and as we go through each of these releases, we will refresh all of our assumptions and refresh our feasibility assessment to recharacterize the project.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

I assume the answer is because you need to get going, but wouldn't it be more normal to wait until preliminary planning is completed before you start detailed planning?  Wouldn't that be, in the normal project, sort of how you would do it?

MR. ROSE:  So, generally speaking, that is what is happening from the planning perspective.  And I know the chart, again, referring back to D2-2, schedule 1, page 10, shows the three kinds of parallelling over release 4.

The bulk of the planning work will be done -- in fact, all of the planning work in the preliminary planning phase will be done before we go to the board in November 2011.

However, when we release the funds for gate 3, we release the funds to complete the entire environmental assessment and the safety -- and the ISR, integrated safety report.

Those are predominantly done in 2011 and submitted in -- the ISR is submitted in late 2011 to the CNSC, the EA in late 2012 to the CNSC per current milestones.  So we have included those entire work programs within that release.

And the reason for that is we need to make commitments to do that entire work program within this release, within this phase.

MS. HARE:  I have one final question.

You mentioned, Mr. Reiner, the other day about two projects that were successfully completed on time and budget.  And I think it was Darlington and Pickering, the vacuum buildings.

MR. REINER:  Yes, those two, the vacuum building outages, and there was also a third, the Pickering unit 2, 3 safe store.  So those two units are now placed in a safe storage state, and that was delivered ahead of schedule and under budget, actually.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So I would like some more information on that just to compare that to what we have before us.  And, in particular, I would be interested in seeing what the cost estimate was at the project approval stage versus the quality estimate, and then what the actual came in at.

MR. REINER:  Okay.  We would have to take an undertaking for that.  We don't have that in front of us.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3: TO PROVIDE THE COST ESTIMATE AT THE PROJECT APPROVAL STAGE VERSUS THE QUALITY ESTIMATE, AND THEN THE ACTUAL.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Spoel has some questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  If I could just stick with figure 2 on page 10 of Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, because I have a couple of questions about that, as well.

Once you get into the -- we talked about off-ramps, and I wondered whether, if you run into problems, let's say, with the first unit refurbishment, which is past I guess release number 6, would you be able to not proceed with refurbishing all of the units, or would that be something that wouldn't be practical from an operational perspective?

MR. REINER:  There likely is a practicality matter that we would have to look at, because the station is a four-unit station that relies on some central services.

So if, hypothetically speaking, you got into a scenario where you got through two refurbishments and you chose, for whatever reason, to stop at that point, you would need to do some work to be able to operate the power plant in a changed configuration.  So there is a matter of practicality.

But the intent behind the approach, the release approach, is still to provide a decision opportunity, should a worst-case scenario unfold.  So that is the intent.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  So you are proceeding along in phases, but once you get into the execution phases, for practical purposes, unless there is some major problem --


MR. REINER:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  -- you are likely to proceed along --


MR. REINER:  You are likely to proceed.

MS. SPOEL:  Or if they happen to go, you do -- I guess they overlap.  You do them one at a time for practical purposes, as opposed to giving yourself a chance to not proceed with all of them?

MR. REINER:  Right.  And the key purpose behind sort of that overlap and that staggering, there is an element of continuity of certain work programs that you can move -- you know, as you complete on one unit, you move it to the next unit.

At the same time, there is an opportunity to take lessons learned from that first unit and incorporate them into the schedule and into the work for the next unit.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  And I assume, then, that once you finish the first unit refurbishment, that unit would come back on stream and be operational while you continue to work on the other units?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  The other area that I had a couple of questions was about the matters that Mr. Shepherd was dealing with in terms of the accounting or the financial impacts if you should decide not to proceed in 2014.

And that refers -- I will just deal with it with respect to the asset retirement costs and the liabilities associate with that.

Do you have any sense of -- you are proceeding forward now, as I understand, saying, Well, we are going to extend -- we are going to defer that expenditures for 30 years beyond when we would have otherwise had to incur them.  Therefore, that is a benefit, because it costs less now to finance it, in very simple terms.

Do you have any assessment if, four years from now, you decide, No, we are not going to proceed, what the unfunded liability will be for having, in effect, deferred that contribution by having extended out the assumed life of the -- before you have to tap into those funds, what impact that is going to have in terms of how much extra has to be funded at that point in time?

MR. REEVE:  I don't know.  I can't speak to that particular question on the unfunded liability.  I guess we could --


MS. SPOEL:  Is there another panel that might deal with that, or is this something that you would be able --


MR. REEVE:  It is cost of capital and nuclear liabilities.  I know they may be in a position.

MR. KEIZER:  We could try the question there.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, that's fine.  We will bring it up then.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have just one remaining question.  And we heard from the production panel, from your colleagues on the production panel, how they felt it was important to incorporate the risks associated with major unforeseen events.  So, in other words, despite best planning and rigorous control and running -- just generally running a tight ship, there was a probability of a major unforeseen event.

I am wondering, is that the same -- have you undertaken the same kind of analysis and/or built in the same kind of factor in your economic analysis of the project so far for the refurbishment?

MR. REINER:  We have built in factors for unforeseens.  Now, it is a little bit different than what you would do in a production world, as you heard in the previous panel.  The way we do this in the project world is you allow for contingency, and you allow for contingency in scope and in schedule.

And so at this point in time, given that a lot of the detailed technical analysis hasn't yet been done, you see a broad range in our costs, that $6 to $10 billion.

So that accounts for uncertainty and unknowns.  As those become more defined, we will be able to quantify a point estimate.  Now, once that point estimate is established, there is an element of contingency that you would still maintain for the project, to deal with those potential unforeseen things.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I guess I'm interested not just in what I would guess would be typically considered contingency, but for example, some of the experiences that have been kind of introduced onto the record.  In other words, having to re-tube a significant portion, because although the work was maybe done and done on time, wasn't done adequately and therefore has to be redone.

I am wondering if that kind of major unforeseen, if you have incorporated some kind of probability associated with that type of event happening?

MR. ROSE:  I would suggest at this point that because of the range that we have in our six- to $10 million, we would be able to cover that off.

Now, as we go forward and we -- when we plan out our schedule, we will go through our schedule and our evolutions of the project plan and the project execution plan, and we will ask ourselves:  What are the risks?  And we will be informed about what those risks are from what happened at the other refurbishment projects, and we will ask ourselves:  What is the probability of that event happening to us?  Are there manners that we can mitigate that?

And the unmitigated portions of that risk, we would obviously include a contingency within our plan to deal with that.

But our goal would be to understand that risk well, and make sure we've got good plans and strategies to mitigate it.  One of the mitigation strategies of having to re-pull out all of the calandria tubes, maybe you inspect that after you install one tube and then before you go to the second one.  Maybe there is slightly additional cost for doing that, but it is certainly a lot better than waiting to the end and finding out you have a problem, and then having to take them all out.

That would be the thought process we would go through to make sure that that uncertainty bands is compressed, and that we have much more confidence in our –- ultimately, our end estimate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  That is the Board Panel's questions.

Mr. Keizer, do you have any redirect?


MR. KEIZER:  I just have a couple.
Re-Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  If I could ask you to turn to the Pollution Probe compendium, if you have that there, I forget the exhibit number.  It is not marked on the one I have.  I guess it is --


MR. REINER:  6.3?

MR. KEIZER:  6.3.  And if I could ask you to look at page 15 of that compendium?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I believe there is a calculation entitled:  "Calculation all-in capacity factor"?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could ask you, how is this calculation relevant to the Darlington refurbishment project?

MR. REINER:  Well, I am not sure that this is relevant to the Darlington refurbishment project.  I mean, what this calculation does is -- is, for the year in which it was done, is it looked at the total production output and the total installed capacity, and did the math.

For Darlington, we are looking specifically at the Darlington station, and if you were to do the similar math for Darlington station and you do it over the entire history of that station, you would find that the capacity factors for Darlington have been in that high 80s, low 90s range continually through the life.

As a matter of fact, they have recently been improving.  And some key differences that contribute to that, you know, Darlington is the third generation CANDU plant.  It is the most modern that exists anywhere in the CANDU fleet.

It has a lot of redundancy built into its systems, and has benefited a lot from the advancements of the earlier stations.

So the capacity factor for Darlington is significantly higher, and that is what is of interest to us.

MR. KEIZER:  So just a further follow-on question, I think from the examination that Mr. Alexander had, after he asked you a question related to that page.  I think he also took you to page 6 of the Pollution Probe compendium, which deals with the appendix A to the Clean Air Alliance Report.

And there, there was a chronology of the various -- setting out a chronology, and then also together with that was a series of endnotes.

Could you indicate or describe the steps you have taken to verify the correctness of the information included in appendix A?

MR. REINER:  I mean, we have not gone back and cross-referenced specifically each of the references to see if these numbers are correct.  We have not done that.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

And I guess my last question, I think, arises out of an examination by Mr. Shepherd.  And it was in respect of some discussions around safe store periods and others.

I believe Ms. Swami was being responsive to those questions.

Could you describe the sensitivities from a nuclear regulatory perspective that might arise with changes to the safe store period?

MS. SWAMI:  When -- and throughout the life of a nuclear plant, we are required to supply a preliminary and eventually a detailed decommissioning plan for our facilities, that is supplied to the CNSC for their review and acceptance.  It is part of our licensing for all of our facilities, at whatever state of life they are.

As we move forward into an end-of-life scenario, or towards the end when the plants may be shut down, we would get more into the detailed decommissioning phase, but essentially we look at the considerations of the public, in terms of how they would like to see the site used.

We consider the potential dose impacts for workers as they would move into a dismantling phase.

And so there is a balance that is done between what the costs would be associated with that project, versus the safety aspects of the project, versus the community concerns with regard to a facility that is not operational, in their backyard, essentially.

So there are many factors that go into the consideration of how long a period the safe store will actually be.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MR. REINER:  Just maybe one point of clarification, Mr. Keizer, on your question about the capacity factor on page 15.

That calculation also includes in it units that are actually not operational.  And so that -- that tends to skew the numbers somewhat, as well.  And so again, there isn't that relevance to Darlington, where we've got four operational units that are performing quite well.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

The panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.

We are ready for the next panel, but I believe that we will take the lunch break now, since it is now 12:30.

So the next panel is panel 7, corporate functions and cost allocation?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Madam Chair, actually with your leave, if I could be excused.  My colleague Crawford Smith will be dealing with that panel, and then I will return tomorrow to deal with finance and business process.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

Okay.  We will break until 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:   Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Smith, is your next panel ready to be sworn?

MR. SMITH:  They are.  Thank you very much.  We have the corporate functions and cost allocation panel, Mr. Jong, Mr. Staines and Ms. Irvine.  If they could be sworn, that would be appreciated.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 7

Lorraine Irvine, Sworn


Jong Kim, Sworn


Tom Staines, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kim, I understand that you are the chief technology officer, business services and information technology?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in that capacity, you are responsible for, among other things, the development and execution of OPG's IT strategy?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have been with OPG since 2002?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in your current position this year?

MR. KIM:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held various positions within OPG in the information technology area?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of applied science and electrical engineering, a master's of engineering and an MBA, all from the University of Toronto?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible for the preparation of OPG's IT-related prefiled evidence in this matter?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Similarly, were you responsible for the preparation of interrogatory responses in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt those responses for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. KIM:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Staines, I understand that you are the director of finance, corporate functions?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in that capacity, I understand that you are responsible for the controllership function in support of finance, the chief information officer, human resources, corporate centre and real estate?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are similarly responsible for maintaining and operating the corporate cost allocation model for planning and monthly reporting?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been in your current position since 2009?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been employed by OPG or Ontario Hydro, as the case may be, since 1982?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have a business degree from Acadia University?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Were you involved in the preparation of OPG's corporate function and cost allocation prefiled evidence?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. STAINES:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And, similarly, were you involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. STAINES:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Finally, Ms. Irvine, I understand that you are presently the vice president human resources projects?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And until very recently, you were the vice president safety, wellness and total compensation?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in that capacity, you were responsible for, among other things, managing OPG's compensation and benefits elements for all unionized and management employees?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are also responsible for corporate wellness and safety activities?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that you have been with OPG or Ontario Hydro, as the case may be, since 1981?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor's degree, an honours degree from the University of Toronto?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And an MBA from my alma mater, Queen's University?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Were you involved or responsible for the preparation of OPG's prefiled evidence in relation to compensation, wages and benefits?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?

MS. IRVINE:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Similarly, were you responsible or assisted in the preparation of interrogatory responses in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  Now, one question perhaps of clarification with respect to your responsibility in respect of that evidence.

Am I correct that, for the purposes of testifying today, the cost consequences associated with OPG's pension plans will be dealt with by a later panel, the finance panel?

MS. IRVINE:  That is my understanding.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I did have just a couple of questions for you, Ms. Irvine, in chief.

Do you have OPG's impact statement at hand, which is Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if you could just, please, tell me:  What is the Public Sector Compensation Restraint to Protect Public Services Act?

MS. IRVINE:  Commonly called Bill 16, it is an act passed by the government of Ontario designed to restrain compensation increases for public sector employees.

It is in effect from March 25th, 2010 until March 31st, 2012.  The act applies to non-unionized employees.

MR. SMITH:  And what impact, if any, has this act had on OPG's filing in this case?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, if I refer back to the impact statement that you referred to in your first question, you will note that there has been a reduction of the non-unionized compensation increase costs from the revenue requirement, which was offset by additional costs from the CNSC, which results in no change in the requested revenue requirement.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, those being my questions in examination-in-chief, I would tender the panel for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, I believe you are going first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  And good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.

We have produced another compendium of documents, as we have for many of the panels.  Again, most of these documents are already on the record.  There is a couple taken from the previous application, and one or two other things.  Anything that is not currently on the record I provided to OPG in advance.

But I would propose to give this an exhibit number now, and it would be Exhibit K8.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.3: BOARD COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PANEL 7.

MR. MILLAR:  However, my first question in fact is going to refer to a different compendium.  The reason for that is one of the questions that we had for panel 1, the hydro panel, was referred to this panel.

I had provided a booklet of documents in that -- to that panel which was K1.2.  However, I am only going to be referring to two pages from that compendium.  I have produced those separately.

So I am not sure if you have K1.2.  I will be referring to what is page 40 of the booklet, but we have also produced the single pages separately.

Do you have K1.2 or the document I am referring to?  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  We have it.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe the Panel has a copy, as well.

Just to refresh our memories as to what I was discussing with panel 1, if you look on what says page 40 at the top and page 13 at the bottom of this document, you will see in the right column there is a heading, "Energy Efficiency", and then I guess the third paragraph underneath that states:
"In 2009, OPG achieved new internal energy efficiency savings of 29.6 GWh/yr."


And then it goes on:
"This saving was primarily attributable to efficiencies in hydroelectric and real estate operations."


You list seven projects underneath that where certain projects were completed.  Then if you flip over to the next page, 41 at the top, 14 at the bottom, some additional efficiencies:
"Within Real Estate services at OPG Head Office, resource efficiency initiatives resulted in the following improvements..."


And then they're listed beneath that.

Do you see all of that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  The question we had for the last panel was you referred to certain efficiencies in the real estate and head office groups in this report that I have just shown you.

Did you incur any OM&A or capital costs associated with these initiatives?

MR. STAINES:  We incurred costs in the real estate group for these, for some of these efficiencies.

MR. MILLAR:  And were any of these costs allocated to the regulated operations?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, they were.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, they were.  Can you tell me how much and where I would find those in the application?

MR. STAINES:  It is not specifically identified within the application.

The costs would flow through our real estate group, which could either be covered through their capital budgets or their OM&A budgets.

Capital budgets tend to have between 100 to $200,000 a year versus efficiency improvements, and it could be smaller amounts in the OM&A business plan, as well.

Now, the allocation of these costs are done through our allocation methodology, so in most cases that is done through square footage.

So in the case of 700 University, we would look at how much square footage is used by OPG and how much of that square footage is then allocated to either nuclear or regulated hydro.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it you are not able to give me a number regarding how much was allocated to the regulated side?

MR. STAINES:  I could not give you a number, except that it would be -- for any particular year, it would be less than half a million dollars in total.

Considering that half 700 is occupied by non-OPG tenants, it would be less than half of that would then be allocated to OPG, and then through a methodology where anywhere from, say, 62 to 70 percent of the costs are allocated to the regulated business, it would be in that range.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say less than half a million, are we talking revenue requirement?  Or capital?

MR. STAINES:  It would be a mix.  It would be a mix of capital and OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to spend too much on this, but can you give me a ballpark on what the revenue requirement impact would be in a particular year, from these allocations?

MR. STAINES:  I believe that would be -- it would show up in two places.  To give you an actual dollar amount, I could not do that.  It would show up through our capital evidence.  And also through the OM&A evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it less than half a million dollars?

MR. STAINES:  Oh, definitely less than half a million dollars.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  While I have you on this topic, we did get an undertaking response from panel 1.  Since many of these issues or some of these issues were punted to you, I am not sure of the extent you will be able to address this, but I'll ask the question and if you can answer, you can answer.

If you look to our booklet of documents for this panel, you will see Undertaking J1.4 at page 58.  It is 58 at the top.

This undertaking asks you to break out the IESO non-energy charges and the energy withdrawals from the grid.

I wanted to take you, in particular, to table 2 of that undertaking response.  It is at page 59.

I just wanted to -- and this is showing us the energy withdrawals from the grid for your -- for your regulated and unregulated businesses; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  I believe that is what it is.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at the total at the bottom, I see, I guess, it is 1.6 million megawatt-hours.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look up to "total nuclear," 807,000 megawatt-hours, that is about half of that amount; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look down to the "corporate facilities" amount at the bottom, we see about 21,000 megawatt-hours?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is less than one percent; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understood from the previous panel -- and I am not sure if you can confirm this or not, but there had been no energy initiatives undertaken at your regular nuclear facilities?

MR. STAINES:  I am not aware of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will look to the transcript for that, I guess.

Again, I ask you these only because some of the questions were punted to this panel.  If you can't answer them, then you can't.

Can you confirm for me that OPG seeks to pass through all of its costs related to IESO non-energy charges incurred by its regulated facilities on to ratepayers through the payment amounts?

MR. STAINES:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  And can you tell me if you have undertaken any review of your nuclear facilities to determine if any cost-effective energy efficiency investments can be made to reduce consumption, and therefore the non-energy charges?

MR. STAINES:  I don't believe that is under my mandate, to look at the nuclear side of the business.

We're dealing with the corporate cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. STAINES:  And only the bottom item that deals with the corporate facilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I do understand, so if you can't answer, you can't answer.  Thank you for that.

Okay.  I would like to move into the non-hangover questions.

If I could ask you to turn to page 37 of the booklet, this is the Memorandum of Agreement between OPG and its shareholder.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  And I have some general questions about this document.  I am assuming you are the correct panel, but I guess you will tell me if you are not able to help me.

Could you look down -- you see there is a section A, "Mandate" and then a number 3?

And this is really just a clarification question, but it states:

"OPG will seek continuous improvement in its nuclear generation business and internal services."

And that phrase stuck out with us a little bit.  Can you tell us what "internal services" means?  What are you referring to there?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STAINES:  We cannot answer that.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if it is referring to the corporate support costs for nuclear?  If you don't know, you don't know, but...

MR. STAINES:  Well, just reading it from within the context of section 3, which is dealing with nuclear CANDU -- nuclear electricity generators of North America, I assume this is all a nuclear matter.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, turning to you, we had assumed this would be the right panel.  If there is another panel that is coming up that could answer this, I would be happy to put it to them or -- I am not sure if an undertaking is a possibility, but can you provide any assistance?

MR. SMITH:  Well, you will either be able to catch it with panel 9, Mr. Halpern, or with Mr. Barrett at panel 10, I believe.

MR. MILLAR:  Panel 9 or 10?  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Moving along, I am going to ask you some questions about Board Staff Interrogatory No. 87.  That is Issue 6.9.  But we've reproduced it at page 41 of our booklet.

And just to provide a bit of background as to what that interrogatory was asking you about, it was asking you about a table that was produced in the evidence.  That table is reproduced at page 45 of the Staff booklet.  It is Exhibit F3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.

But I am going to refer at this moment to the interrogatory itself.

We asked you some questions that that table showed there had been some fairly significant increases for corporate support and admin groups, particularly corporate affairs and corporate centres.

If I could maybe -- easiest to look at page 45, so you can see what I am talking about.  This shows the table itself.  We were asking some questions about line items four and five, corporate affairs and corporate centre.

By our calculation, from 2007 to 2012 corporate affairs costs increase by 27, percent and corporate centres by 46 percent.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And you will recall, of course, in IR 87 we asked you some questions about that.

And your response to that -- if you look at the IR, with regard to the corporate centre you stated that:

"A significant portion of the increase was associated with the unregulated side of the business."

And that:

"The increase for regulated business was 24 percent."

And that this was:

"...mainly due to an increase in legal expenses in support of OEB rate application."

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  First, I want to get to the bottom of this 24 percent that you referenced, the 24 percent I guess attributable to the regulated business.  I want to make sure I understand what 24 percent means.

Do you mean that the costs on the regulated side went up 24 percent, or do you mean that of the 46 percent total increase, 24 is attributable to regulated and presumably 22 to unregulated?

MR. STAINES:  Twenty-four percent of the total is attributable to the regulated business.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Now, the driver you cite for corporate centre is largely the OEB rate applications; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you have been doing -- you have been involved with OEB applications since at least 2007; is that right?  I mean, the last hearing I know, I guess it was in 2008, but by 2007 you would be preparing, I assume, for the last payments application; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  We were doing some work in 2007; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And indeed if you look at the big jump for corporate centre - again, I am looking at the table on page 45 - from 2009 actual to 2010 budget, you have a big jump of about six -- 6, 7 million, whereas otherwise everything is fairly flat.

If the costs are associated with the OEB applications, why do we see the big jump in those years?  You had a hearing in 2008, did you not?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we did.

MR. MILLAR:  So why do we see the big jump from 2009 to 2010?  And, in fact, I observe, further, 2012 I am presuming you will have another OEB rate case.  It is only a very minor jump from 2011.

So can you help me out with that?

MR. STAINES:  On page 45 of your Exhibit K8.3, we do see cause for the corporate centre going up from $19 million in 2007 to $28 million in 2012.

There are two reasons for that, and this is the unregulate -- this is the total OPG.  This is not the regulated portion.

There is a group within that corporate centre of almost 5-1/2 million dollars that does not have any cost allocated to the regulated business.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. STAINES:  That would reduce it quite a bit right there.  And then the other is 2007, the costs incurred for preparation for rate hearings was very small, where in 2012 we are expecting a full rate hearing in that year.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, but 2011 would be your comparable to 2007, then?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, yes, it would.  It would be fairly comparable.  If we took out $5 million or 5 -- I believe it was $5.3 million for a group that is not allocated to the regulated business, that comes down to 21.2.  So the increase is about $2 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the jump I am seeing is something that is not attributable to the regulated side?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  For corporate affairs, you note in the IR response that the jump is due, you give some reasons:  Economic increases, 13 percent; OEB process, 11 percent; and the addition of nuclear generation development to public affairs of 3.5 percent.  Is that right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess I have a similar question.  You note, again, under corporate affairs - I am looking at the chart again at page 45 - the big jump again occurs in 2009 to 2010, whereas otherwise it is relatively flat.  So there is that one-year year-over-year jump.

Can you help me out with why -- why are we seeing that there, and how is that related, for example, to OEB processes?

MR. STAINES:  Again, the main increase is due to the OEB, in 2009, there was no rate hearing.  In 2010, we are currently sitting in the rate hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's true, but 2008 there was a rate hearing, was there not?

MR. STAINES:  That's right, there was.

MR. MILLAR:  So why the increase of -- from 2008 to 2010?  Can you help us with that?

MR. STAINES:  From 2008 to 2010, there are a number of other factors in there besides the OEB.  We do have increased costs for the OEB in 2010, and --


MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, the costs go down for 2012, I see, which presumably is the next rate hearing year.

MR. STAINES:  Always trying to be efficient.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we'll get to that.

MR. STAINES:  If we go to interrogatory 1, schedule 103, your own interrogatory, where we list out the cost of the OEB proceedings?

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is in the document book at page 50, 51.

MR. STAINES:  That would be it, yes, page 51 -- 50 and 51, that's correct, which shows the plan for 2010, and there are some increases over 2008.  The cost of the OEB assessment in 2010 budget is over $600,000 higher.  As you could see on the page 2 of 2 on schedule 103 --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  -- that 2008, the actual assessment was only 345.  In 2009, it was 944.  So, therefore, we have increased it for that.

Also, intervenor awards we have increased by a few hundred thousand dollars, and our expert witness and consultant dollars have been increased, as well, in anticipation of the effort that is required.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, you're talking about 2009 or you're talking about 2010?

MR. STAINES:  I am comparing 2008 to 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sorry, we will get into this table a little bit later.  It is in our booklet, but thank you for that explanation.

Turning back to Board Staff IR 87, again, at page 41 of the document book, we asked you in part (b) of that interrogatory if you had undertaken any benchmarking activities with regard to its aggregate corporate costs against other utilities.

And I guess the reason we asked you that, as you will see identified in the interrogatory, is that the ScottMadden report identified corporate costs to be one of the biggest drivers underlying OPG's cost-related performance gap.

And I don't necessarily want to take you to every reference to that, but to the extent you are interested, it is at page 43 and page 44 of the document book.

And your response was -- I think it is on the next page of this.  The answer was, "No", and then you say:
"OPG's approach is to concentrate on benchmarking the corporate groups which have a significant impact in relation to total OPG costs.  This approach is consistent with the EB-2007-0905 decision, which directed OPG to continue its benchmarking activities in the corporate areas it has identified.  The three areas identified by OPG where benchmarking will continue to be performed are Information Technology, Finance and Human Resources."


Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we could go -- flip again to page 45, the table, I just want to get a sense of the overall magnitude of the costs.  If you look, the total for 2012 is $406 million; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Corporate affairs, at about 55 million, that is about 13-1/2 percent of that total; is that correct?  Subject to check?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And for corporate affairs, 28.1 million.  I have that at just under 7 percent of the total; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. MILLAR:  I have it as just under 7 percent of the total, the corporate centre costs?

MR. STAINES:  Oh, corporate centre?  Just under 7 percent, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So for example, your corporate affairs costs are only slightly less than your finance costs; is that fair?  And the same with human resources?

MR. STAINES:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  And indeed together, corporate affairs and corporate centre are more than 20 percent; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  Approximately 20 percent, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you may have to take this subject to check, or not, for that matter, but by my math -- which I will almost certainly not be able to replicate for you -- something like 88 percent of the driver of the cost increases in recent years is attributable to corporate affairs and corporate centre.

And maybe you don't have to accept 88 percent, but would you accept it is the biggest driver of the increases?

MR. STAINES:  It is the major driver of the increases, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you point out that in the previous decision, the Board gave you some comfort on your benchmarking activities.  But when we look at these numbers now, which have changed somewhat since the last proceeding, are you still confident that this isn't an area that perhaps you could do some benchmarking?

Again, also you didn't have ScottMadden last time telling you the corporate costs were one of the big drivers of the gap.

So has any of that caused you to reconsider your position?

MR. STAINES:  At the current moment, no.  We still will concentrate on the large areas of which we can do benchmarking.

If you look at corporate affairs, corporate affairs includes a number of different areas.  It is not just our regulatory affairs and public affairs group.  It also includes our energy markets, sustainable development, emergency preparedness.

So there are a number of different types of functions within corporate affairs, unlike, say, HR or finance, where they are strictly those types of functions.

As well, if I look at the total increase over the three-year period from 2009 to 2012, it is less than 5 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  On a total basis.

MR. STAINES:  On a total basis.  And the 5 percent is driven by the things that you were mentioning.

There are costs of the OEB rate hearing.  We didn't have it in 2009.  We have it in 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But those are the things you are not benchmarking; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are benchmarking at least some -- in fact, you are benchmarking the other three; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  A portion of the -- the biggest portion of business services and IT, the IT portion, yes.  All of the finance and all of HR.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you flip to page 47 of the booklet?  This is Board Staff Interrogatory 86, under Issue 6.9.

And what we asked you for there, we asked you to:

"Please provide the business plans relating to corporate costs."

And you said you don't have any.  So you couldn't give them to us.

In fact, if you look at line 32, I will just read in the last part of the answer:

"Business plan documents for the corporate functions are not prepared for OPG's board of directors as part of the business plan approval.  Instead, the corporate group's budgets, once reviewed and approved by the CEO, are incorporated into the consolidated OPG business planning and financial information approved by the OPG board."

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, to me, when I read that response, it is not quite clear if there is or if there is not a corporate business plan.

You say:
"Business plan documents for the corporate functions are not prepared."


But the corporate group's budgets, which are reviewed and approved by the CEO are then "incorporated into the consolidated budget planning and financial information..."

So I guess what you're saying is that there is no standalone, separate plan, and to the extent that these items are reviewed, they are wound up in the bigger plan?

MR. STAINES:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, at line 27 of this response, you say:

"The individual corporate function budgets undergo the same level of executive scrutiny as the generation business unit plans.

And they're:

"...held to the same level of accountability for achieving financial and operational targets as the generating business units."

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  How can they undergo the same level of scrutiny if there is no separate business plan approved for these?

MR. STAINES:  There are meetings held with each of the corporate group leaders and the president, president, CFO, to discuss the business, what will go into their business plan, what will be incorporated into the corporate business plan.  They discuss spending levels, OM&A and capital.

For the capital, they do discuss the projects that will be undertaken.

There is a lot of back and forth between the president, the CFO and the various leaders, and it's the presentation in front of the CFO for these business plans.

MR. MILLAR:  Not for the corporate business plans?  For the overall business plans?

MR. STAINES:  By each individual.  So BS and IT would have a meeting with the president and CFO to review their plan, which includes, like I said, the OM&A and capital portion, programs that they will do during the year.

Discussions go back and forth, and at some time after those meetings, the OM&A levels are set, which in many cases are different from the discussions that are going on between the president and the leaders.  Most of the time, I would say they're lower.  Sometimes they are slightly higher.

And then those dollar values are incorporated into the plan that goes up for approval.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is something less -- I don't want to say "less formal" but less documented, perhaps is the best word, than a formal --


MR. STAINES:  Formal documentation of it is not to the extent that we have in nuclear.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Could you please flip to page 48 of the booklet?  This is another interrogatory, a VECC interrogatory in this case, No. 25.  Again, with relation to Issue 6.9.

What they asked you to do is provide a table showing budget versus actual, broken down by corporate group.

If you look at this table, the one that seems to stand out, where the actual was much lower than the budget, was business services and IT.

Do you see that?  I shouldn't say "do you see that" because I haven't given you any numbers yet, but you will see line 3 is business services and IT.

Rather than have you add everything up, what we did is we calculated that for 2007, your budget was 221 and your actual was 214, so you had overcast by seven million.

In 2008, we have an overforecast of 31.6 million.

And in 2009, we have an overforecast of $29.5 million, for a total overforecast from '07 to '09 of $68.1 million.

Do you accept that, or would you take it subject to check?

MR. STAINES:  Subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  What happened here?  Why did we have the -- what happened?

MR. STAINES:  If you go to interrogatory Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 028, page 4.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. STAINES:  Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 28.

MR. MILLAR:  This is an IR response?

MR. STAINES:  This is an IR response, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Which IR is it?  Is it a CCC?

MR. STAINES:  CCC, yes.

MR. SMITH:  CCC, Issue 6.9, Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 28.

MR. STAINES:  We give the -- this document relates to nuclear and hydroelectric.  However, most of the reasons for the variances can be captured under the nuclear section, which -- on page 4, line 1 explains 2009 actual versus 2009 budget.

And line 7 begins the analysis of '08 actual to budget.

Now, what we had in our plan back in 2008 was some initiatives in our IT area, which relate to the data centre.  We were planning to move our data centre from 700 University.  I don't know if you want to talk about that.

MR. KIM:  Sure.  We -- originally we were planning -- as a result of I guess our assessment of risks associated with the existing data centre, the plan was to move that data centre to some other location, and that was originally incorporated into the previous plan.

However, we have -- upon further investigation, we have found the more cost-effective way of managing that risk without having to move the data centre.

For example, hardening some of the HVACs so we have better air-conditioning facilities, and so on, we are able to achieve our, I guess, business plan, manage our risk much more cost effectively, and, as a result, some of the planned spending didn't occur.

MR. MILLAR:  You didn't move the facility?

MR. KIM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What changed?  What information did you not have when you made your plan that you came upon later?

MR. KIM:  It was really more of an independent assessment that we undertook just to have a second look at the risks associated with the current data centre.

And we in fact brought in the independent consultant to assess, do a lot more thorough analysis of the risk that exists in the current data centre.  So it is better information.

MR. MILLAR:  Why wouldn't you have gotten an independent consultant before you put those amounts into your budget?

MR. KIM:  At the time, when we were doing the initial assessment, that was really the assessment that was made.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess 2007 may not matter much, but 2008 and 2009 were the test years for the previous payment amounts application, and so these budgeted amounts would have formed the basis of your application in the last payments case; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent they were approved by the Board and all else being equal, you significantly overearned for those amounts; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  Well, in looking at an isolated case, this one area, yes, we spent less than what was in the plan.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Things go up, things go down, but this particular area --


MR. STAINES:  But this particular area we underspent.  That's true.

MR. MILLAR:  And have you made any -- has this experience led to any changes in how you do your planning with regard to business services and IT, or more generally?

MR. KIM:  Yes.  We have a much more rigorous business planning process in place.  For example, our asset refresh plan that drives many of the projects and initiatives are much more comprehensive, and, as well, there is a lot more, I guess, due diligence applied to various projects and initiatives that are going into the business plan.

MR. STAINES:  If I can add, if you look at your document on page 45 where it has the total cost, and if you look at BS and IT, the dollars actually go down in our 2010 budget from 2007.

So there is evidence that we have taken a tough, long, hard look at how we plan and what we're doing.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it is relatively flat, is that --


MR. STAINES:  Yes, it is, but if you look at other factors that are increasing on certain areas, in labour, in real estate, our IT costs are actually coming down.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

I am going to move on to another area, some questions about your regulatory affairs costs and budget.  And perhaps the best place to turn to, to kick start this conversation, would be Board Staff IR 103, which you took us to earlier.  You will see that at page 50 and 51 of the Staff booklet.

And for those looking in their itemized binders, it is still Issue 6.9.  Do you have that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And doubtless you will recall we asked you to fill out a table that showed both actuals, budget amounts and Board-approved levels.  Do you accept that, that that is what we asked?

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you told us for the part of the chart you weren't able to do that.  You say in the response at line 25, it says:
"OPG is unable to complete the 'Board Approved' columns because OPG did not present, and therefore the OEB could not have approved, forecasts for the individual components of Regulatory Affairs costs in 2008 and 2009."


Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps it was a -- in fact, then you flip over the page, you will see the chart that we gave you and the Board-approved column, which is at (a) and (c), has been left blank.

MR. STAINES:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think perhaps we weren't specific enough in our wording of the question, but I think what we were really after were your budgeted amounts for those years.

Is that something you would be able to provide?

MR. STAINES:  In hindsight, we probably could provide something.  However, at the time, it is not the buckets that we plan in.  I'm not saying that some thought didn't go behind it of what these would be.  We do not plan by specific application, which I believe was the -- if I go back to the question, sorry.

Well, when the question came out, we did not receive approval by these categories.  We received approval of the total corporate cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you have provided -- sorry.

MR. STAINES:  It was just difficult to say -- well, we can't specify what was approved when it wasn't in the evidence before, and there was no approval through the decision.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe things are being done differently for this application, but you did provide us the 2010 budget amount; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we did.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you skip ahead a couple of pages, we provide a response to Staff IR 90.  You produce a number of tables there that show a fairly detailed breakout on some of your budgets; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Was this not done for the previous applications, a document similar to this?

MR. STAINES:  As IR 90?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  Yes.  We do that internally, but -- however, that table does not separate out how much we're planning for each of the individual items on your page 51.  We do not separate expert witness, counsel -- you know, it's not separated on that table.

MR. MILLAR:  But you could give us the totals; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, we could.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to undertake to provide that, your budgeted amounts for 2008 and 2009 at whatever level of granularity you are able to do so?

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  We will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J8.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.4:  TO PROVIDE BUDGETED AMOUNTS FOR 2008 AND 2009, STAFF INTERROGATORY RESPONSE 90.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sticking with interrogatory response from Board Staff 103, if you look at your recurring costs -- that is the top item.  By my math, I see in 2008 you are at about just over $2 million, and then by 2012 your plan is up to 3.2 million.  By my sketchy math, that is about a 56 percent increase.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I will.

MR. MILLAR:  And, indeed, most of the increases occur between 2008 and 2009, and then from 2009 to 2010, budget, and then it sort of levels off.  Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Why are we seeing such large increases for this item?

MR. STAINES:  It is related to the amount of effort that goes into preparing for rate hearings or other regulatory matters dealing with the OEB.  There is a tremendous amount of effort that goes throughout not just regulatory affairs, but throughout the whole corporation, and the support we find is just required to be at a higher level than it was before.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and I don't doubt it is a lot of work, but would you agree with me that in fact your low water mark for spending with was 2008, and that was one of the years you actually had a payments case before the Board?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it was.  From my own experience of being involved at that time, it took a tremendous amount of work for my own staff back then and other people in finance where, this time, in 2010, I found that we had a lot more support from regulatory affairs, which is people working seven days a week for a few months.  We were down to 50 to 60 hours a week.

MR. MILLAR:  That is improvement.

MR. STAINES:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it you hired more people; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  There are more people, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there an FTE number that would be associated with recurring costs?  I don't know if that is something that you record in that fashion, or not.  But are you able to tell me how many people would have been supporting or would have fed into that cost for 2008 versus, say, 2010 or 2011 or 2012?

MR. STAINES:  I do not have that level of detail.

MR. MILLAR:  It is more people, though?

MR. STAINES:  It is people, mostly people.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would be the driver of the costs, more people?

MR. STAINES:  That would be the -- right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you look to the OEB assessment, annual assessment line, this is a question I may regret asking, because it asks about money that the OEB requires you to pay in the amount of assessments.

But I see it increases fairly significantly.  It was $345,000 in 2008, and then I guess your actuals for 2009 are 944,000.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Then the budget for 2010 is very similar to 2009, but then there is a real big jump for 2011 and 2012, all the way up to $1.5 million.

I asked around here and I couldn't find an answer as to why that would be.  For example, I couldn't find anyone to tell me that they thought the Board was going to start assessing much larger amounts, but you may well know something I don't.

So can you tell me why you are predicting such a big jump from 2010 to 2011?

MR. STAINES:  Our rationale for the jump is -- comes from our conversations we have had from other companies that have come to the OEB.  We did make some inquiries, trying to find out how much assessments would be.

It was not an easy job.  We're not getting straightforward answers, but the answers we were receiving was:  Considerably more than a million dollars a year.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, 2009 we see the 944,000, which is actually a lot more than the amount for 2008, which was the year you actually had your last rates proceeding here.

However, were the amounts from 2008 actually billed or expensed or paid for in 2009?  Is that why 2009's way bigger than 2008?

MR. STAINES:  No, I don't believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  So the $345,000 for 2008 includes whatever -– well, I guess the assessment isn't on a hearing-by-hearing basis, is it?  So that is probably an improper -- not improper, foolish line of questioning I am taking you down.

Let me back up and put it another way.

Your $1.5 million is not based on anything that the OEB has directly told you; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  Not that I am aware, no.

MR. MILLAR:  It is your best guess, compared to your discussions with other regulated entities?

MR. STAINES:  Actually, our best guess would be somewhat higher than that.  However, seeing the history of what has happened, we ratcheted down a bit, because we really don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  And sorry, if you said this, I missed it.  Why is it that you think 2011 will be so much higher than 2010?

MR. STAINES:  Again, it is just our best estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you can look, with regard to the last payments case, the EB-2007-0905 proceeding, you will see there is a line item for that.  And I look and I see that the total costs for that proceeding to the company, at least for 2008, were $2.7 million.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess there were some additional costs in 2007, so bringing the total up to just over three million; is that right?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if you look to this proceeding, and you will see that EB-2010-0008, your budget for 2010, which here is the bulk -- there is a little bit in 2009 -- but your budget for 2010 is $4.6 million, so a good million and a half or more, more than the previous proceeding.

Why are we seeing such a big jump?  Why is it $2 million more expensive?

MR. STAINES:  Well, it is mainly related to two areas.

One is our legal costs, where we expect and we have already seen in 2010 dollars coming up, actually, from what we have experienced for the first nine-and-a-half months of 2010.  And also the intervenor cost awards have been added, figuring they would be somewhat higher than the last time, that the questioning and sophistication of the intervenors would be that much more than the first time, where it was a lot of a learning process.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the intervenor costs are -- I don't want to call it a pure guess, but you don't have any data to support that number yet because none of the cost claims have been filed; is that fair?

MR. STAINES:  As far as I know, they have not been filed, no.  It is just based on past experience, plus expecting this hearing would take a lot more time than the previous one.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  But for the legal costs, you actually are starting to get an indication, because doubtless Mr. Smith and Mr. Keizer have been sending you some bills?

MR. STAINES:  You betcha.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am not going to make much of this, but you had the same firm representing you in 2007; is that correct?

MR. STAINES:  I believe so, although it was different counsel.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It was Mr. Penny, was it not?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I will ask this, and I will take whatever answer you can give.

Why do you think the legal costs are so much higher this time around than last time?

MR. STAINES:  Again, I think it has to deal with the issues that have come up in this hearing, as opposed to the first hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  What types of issues are you talking about?

MR. STAINES:  Well, refurb is one big item.  I know that panel has been on for a few days.  Just as the hearings come on, and the first one, like I said, I think was a learning experience.  There was a lot of information.  People have absorbed it.  And now I could tell by looking at the transcripts every day that the line of questioning and the answers are much improved from the first time.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

"Other regulatory proceedings," for that one, for 2011, we see you've got about $1.7 million set aside.  Then a huge jump to 2012 to about $4.8 million.

Can I assume that that, those are presumed costs for the next payment application?

MR. STAINES:  In 2012, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then therefore is it fair to say that is pretty much the only regulatory proceeding you are anticipating for that year, given that 4.7 is pretty close to the 4.6 million you are predicting for this -- for this case?

MR. STAINES:  I cannot answer that.  As far as I know, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  One final question in this area.

I already took you to Board Staff IR 90, which starts at page 53, but maybe I could ask you to flip there again.

I will ask you to keep a finger on page 51 from 103, because I just want to make sure that the numbers all match up.

So if you look at page 3 of Staff IR 90, which is at page 55 -- and the print is a bit small here -- this is a chart that Staff asked you to fill out.

If you look about -- not quite halfway down the page you will see:  "Corporate affairs group, regulatory affairs, strategic planning."

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Your budget amount for 2010 is 8.7 million and change.

Do you see that?

MR. STAINES:  Sorry, for which group?

MR. MILLAR:  The 2010 budget for regulatory affairs, strategic planning.

MR. STAINES:  Is 8.7 million, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And then if you flip the page, page 56, you will see the same entry for 2011, 7.3 million and change.

Do you see that?

Again, this is the same chart, just for 2011.

MR. STAINES:  Yes, I do.  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  Then on the next page for 2012, we see the same area, but for 2012, the budget is 9.6 million?

MR. STAINES:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If you flip back to Staff 103, in chart 90, you show your budgeted expenses for regulatory affairs as $7.3 million.  But then in 103, you show it as $6.3 million.

So I was wondering if you could help me with that.  Which is the correct number?

MR. STAINES:  The regulatory affairs and strategic planning budget number for 2011 is $7.3 million.

MR. MILLAR:  So what are we looking at -- sorry.

MR. STAINES:  Sorry.  And on schedule 103, the $6.3 million, first of all, includes $500,000 of legal costs, which would be in the law division's budget.

So there is about 5.8-, $5.9 million is regulatory affairs, and that is the amount pertaining to the OEB portion of their budget.

They also have additional money for other items.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, walk me through this one more time.  You're saying the 2011 plan amount that I see in IR 103, the grand total at the bottom for 2011 is $6.3 million, but you're saying I should actually subtract half-a-million dollars?

MR. STAINES:  Half-a-million dollars for legal.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So why is it there in the grand total, then, if it should be subtracted?

MR. STAINES:  Well, on 103, what we're showing is what the cost of the proceedings are, including our legal costs.  So it is our regulatory affairs department, their costs for the proceedings, and also our legal costs for the proceedings.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, okay.  But that still doesn't tell me why we have 7.3 million showing up in IR 90, especially since the 2010 and 2012 amounts more or less match what is in Staff 103.

MR. STAINES:  Well, their actual budget is over $1 million higher, and that's because they do other work besides OEB proceedings.  There is also a strategic planning part of regulatory affairs, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will put this in a different way, because I am getting a little bit lost in the numbers.  What is the amount that -- the revenue requirement amount that you are seeking for 2011 with regard to regulatory affairs?

Is it 6.3, is it 5.8, or is it $7.3 million?

MR. STAINES:  The amount for the proceedings, including legal costs, is the 6.3.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the amount you're seeking for revenue requirement purposes through this proceeding?

MR. STAINES:  Through this proceeding, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will doubtless go back and review what you said as to why it is not the 7.3, but I don't think I have any more questions about that right now, and as long as I understand --


MR. STAINES:  Maybe I can just clarify.  If you look at page 56 --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  -- and the 7.3.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STAINES:  You can see the first two columns to the right of the 7.3, where you see 16 percent and the 186, those are the amounts from regulatory affairs and strategic planning that are allocated to our unregulated business.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that helps.

MR. STAINES:  So we do not look for compensation --


MR. MILLAR:  If you subtract from the 7.3, that gets you your 6.3, essentially?

MR. STAINES:  Essentially, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That helps.

Thank you for that.  I am going to move on to my next area.  Madam Chair, what time would you be looking to take a break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, probably normally about 3 o'clock, but if there is a convenient time that you...

MR. MILLAR:  I will look to break around 3:00.  I can't imagine I will finish by then, but I will try to find an appropriate spot.

I have some questions now about compensation.  Ms. Irvine, I will probably directing most of these to you; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, anyone, please do feel free to chime in, except Mr. Smith.

I would like to start just with a general statement regarding OPG's philosophy with regard to staff compensation, or a question about your philosophy.

And would it be accurate to say that with regard to the compensation OPG pays its employees, would you accept that OPG should be paying market rates for labour?

MS. IRVINE:  That would be our goal, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we might argue over what the market is, et cetera, and there would be all sort of debate on that, but you accept at the high level that whatever the market is, that is more or less what OPG should be paying?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair, okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, in addition to the booklet of documents I provided, Madam Chair and witnesses, I am going to be referring extensively to Exhibit F2, tab 4, schedule 1.  I didn't include those pages in the booklet, because it would essentially be the entire -- that entire exhibit, so I thought it would be easier if we could just go directly to that.

Panel, I assume you have that exhibit?

MS. IRVINE:  We will shortly.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, it is F2, tab 4, schedule 1.  I have given you the wrong -- F4, tab 3, schedule 1.

MS. IRVINE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  My apologies.

And when you get the correct one - I apologize for misleading you - if I can ask you to start by turning to page 31 --


MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  -- of that schedule.

And you will see here, if everyone has it, there is a chart.  It is called chart 11, and it is headed, "OPG's Salary Variance From the 75th Percentile".

First, I would just -- can we discuss what this chart is?  I understand that this chart was given to you or comes from a study that was conducted by Towers Perrin; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And is there an actual study behind this or was it just a chart?

MS. IRVINE:  There is an actual study, but we did not buy the most current version.  So the percentages on this chart were merely an update of the values that we took out of the 2007 evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  What do you mean?  Who does the update?

MS. IRVINE:  We contacted Towers Perrin and asked them for the numbers for these specific jobs.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So this chart, what is this chart dated?

MS. IRVINE:  This chart is dated 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  And the most current version of the Towers Perrin study you have, what year is that?

MS. IRVINE:  2007.

MR. MILLAR:  And is this an annual report?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And you haven't purchased it since 2007?

MS. IRVINE:  No, we have not.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this -- the 2007 version of the report you have, is that a confidential document?

MS. IRVINE:  It was provided in the 2007 as a confidential document with signatories, I think.  I will ask Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  It was filed, as I understand it.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So it was filed in the previous proceeding, and there is no more current version than that one?

MS. IRVINE:  Not that OPG has.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

Mr. Smith, is there an objection to refiling it on a confidential basis in this proceeding?  I suppose we could go to the file room and get it, but then I would be the only one permitted to look at it, because everyone else's undertakings wouldn't apply.

MR. SMITH:  As you pointed out a minute ago, I was not counsel in the last proceeding.

What I can tell you is I think probably that would be fine, but we will have to check what the circumstances were surrounding the last filing.  It may be that certain representations were made to Towers Perrin.  I just don't know.  I will have to find out.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  Why don't we do it on a best efforts basis, and you can tell me if there is a problem?  We will call that Exhibit J -- pardon me, Undertaking J8.5, and that is to produce the 2007 version of the Towers Perrin study, presumably on a confidential basis.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.5: TO PRODUCE 2007 VERSION OF THE TOWERS PERRIN STUDY ON A CONFIDENTIAL BASIS.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And, Ms. Irvine, just if you look at page 30, the very last sentence -- in fact the very last line, what you state there is:
"At least based on this chart, OPG is slightly above the 75th percentile of market on an overall basis."

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Then if you flip to page 37 again of the schedule itself, there is attachment 1, figure 2, and it shows the Towers Perrin survey participant listings.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So these essentially would be your comparators for the purposes of the Towers Perrin study?

MS. IRVINE:  These are not the OPG comparators.  These are the firms that Towers Perrin surveyed to get data for the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But --


MS. IRVINE:  This was not specifically for OPG.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  But to the extent that when we look at the chart back on page 31 and it's showing your ranking as against the 75th percentile, it is with reference to these companies on page 37?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And did you get an update of that list, as well?  Do you know if that is current for 2009?

MS. IRVINE:  I am afraid I don't know, because we didn't purchase the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Towers Perrin didn't indicate to you that it had changed?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In page 1 of our exhibit book, this time there is a Staff IR.  It is Staff IR No. 81.  It is under Issue number 6.8.

We were trying to play with some numbers, or, more accurately, I should say we were trying to get you to play with some numbers for us.  We did a simple calculation which by our math, anyway, showed that based on the -- with the 75th percentile as a base mark, you were, on an overall basis, 6 percent above that.

Would you accept that?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked you as part of (b), we asked the question:

"How much lower would OPG's total compensation costs be if OPG's positions were at the 75th percentile?"

In other words, not 6 percent above.  And you declined to answer that question, and you noted:

"It is not possible to calculate meaningful total compensation costs based on the reduction of a subset of occupations because of the number of variations and differences from market rate, the composition of these specific occupations, and their weight in the calculation."

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So I want to make sure I understand this response, and to see if there is another way we can get, at least, at a high-level number.

I take it this chart shows 30 positions; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  I haven't counted them, but I will --


MR. MILLAR:  I counted, and maybe you can take it, subject to check, there are 30 positions.

Obviously, I would imagine OPG has more than 30 positions in total?

MS. IRVINE:  Many more.

MR. MILLAR:  So this would be a subset of your total; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So is the -- and in addition to that, we don't have -- at least listed here in chart 11, we don't know how many people at OPG work in these particular groups; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we had the number of people who worked in each of those groups, would that be able to give us a better indication of what type of revenue requirement impact it would be to reduce compensation to the 75th percentile?  Would that help us?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that would be a very difficult task, because we would have to figure out how many people in these occupations worked in the regulated businesses, as opposed to the unregulated.

We would then have to calculate out the -- based on, say, a labour rate of some kind, whether they were up or down.

I think it is a very, very speculative exercise, and not one that I think you can hang your hat on for anything.  There would be too many assumptions involved.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, let's take this in baby steps.

First of all, would you be able to provide to us the number of people in the regulated side of the business that work in each of these 30 categories?  You would have those numbers, would you not?

MS. IRVINE:  I am sure they could be obtained from the current.  I am not sure they could be obtained from the date that this was taken in 2009.  We would have to go back historically and start counting single incumbents.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, could you give us to them for 2010?

I miss -- you're right, 2009 is not the same as 2010.

MS. IRVINE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that we don't have perfect data here, but I am trying to see what we can do.

So if we used -- could you give us the numbers for 2010 for these positions?

MS. IRVINE:  It would take some time.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I will tell you what I am getting at, and maybe this will help the Panel as well.

We will discuss a Hydro One case a little bit in the future.  And they had a more comprehensive study, in fairness to you.  But the Board did make certain cuts for their compensation levels, in order to reflect a portion of the reduction that would be realized if they were reduced to median.

And whether it is Board Staff or some other intervenor, I am fairly certain someone is going to suggest in final argument that there should be some cuts for what some may see as excessive compensation.

And we want to -- we can try and work out a number that you can help us with, or otherwise, I guess people will have to do their own crazy math to come up with a number, but I want to see what you can help us with so that we can come up with some sort of ballpark figure that will let us know what type of reductions we would be talking to get down to either 75th percent, or 50 percent.

And I think something that would help us with that would be if you could give us the numbers of people who work on the regulated side, for, -- I guess these would mostly be PWU or the Society, for each of these positions.

So can I ask you to do that?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, I can tell you that all of these positions are unionized.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  And therefore subject to collective agreements and negotiations.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.

MS. IRVINE:  I can tell you how many people are in these jobs, but to separate out the regulated versus non-regulated would take some time, because I will have to track down the workplace of each of the individual incumbents.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe all I can ask, then, is a best effort.  First, you can provide the total numbers, and I guess the hard part is determining if it is regulated or non-?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let me ask this, then, and let me know if you are comfortable.

If you could give me the number of employees in each of these 30 categories, and then to the extent you are able to, how many of them would be on the regulated side.

MS. IRVINE:  As I say, that would take some time to prepare.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I don't want to put you to more work than is necessary, of course, but this is the type of data that the Board used in some previous proceedings.  And I think it would be helpful if we had at least a best-efforts undertaking on that basis.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, my concern with this is the following.

If, as my friend indicates, the Board has used this information previously, and people are as interested in it as my friend suggests, there have been at least two separate opportunities to ask it.

Obviously, the interrogatory response did not get at what my friend wanted, but there was an opportunity to have asked this at the technical conference, and unless I am mistaken, no such request was made.

So my concern is to put it on the footing that this information is now crucial and that people will be keenly interested in it, I think, belies the fact that it ought to have been asked previously.

Having said that, I think maybe what we can do is spend some time tonight and find out what we can do in a reasonable period of time to assist my friend, and report back on that.

But I think an undertaking to go out and do the full extent of the work that is being sought is excessive at this stage.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well --


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we asked for exactly this information in the interrogatory.  I guess we didn't follow up in the technical conference, but I am not sure Mr. Smith is doing me a favour by agreeing to provide this information now.

This is precisely what we asked for, and there was a refusal.  I have explained now why we wanted it.  I think it is relevant.

So I am happy to accept best efforts, but I think it is appropriate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before we do that, Mr. Millar, you have sort of taken the witness down a potential alternative path to figuring it out.

What if we brought it back to the initial level, which is OPG's best estimate of the impact of either keeping it to the 75th percentile or 50th percentile?  And so I think -- what about that, Mr. Smith?

With whatever caveats, of course, OPG wants to put on the answer.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, I think having regard to what the witness has said, there will be a series of caveats, but if the indication from the Panel is you want that, then we will take a look and see what we can do to produce something in a meaningful period of time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, yes.  We would find that helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

That will be Undertaking J8.6.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.6:  to PROVIDE OPG'S BEST ESTIMATE OF IMPACT OF ADJUSTING LABOUR COSTS TO 75TH PERCENTILE OR 50TH PERCENTILE.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, just to be clear, I am not sure -- I think you said this as well.  We are interested in both the 75th and the 50th percentile.  I think you said 50th percentile, but again, subject to whatever caveats may be attached to that, we would like to see that.

Sticking with Staff -- Madam Chair, it is about five to 3:00.  Would you like to break now?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We will break now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:21 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Millar, whenever you are ready.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Welcome back, panel.  We were discussing Board Staff IR 81, which is at page 1 of the booklet.  A few more questions about that.  You have it in front of you?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Question (a), this refers back to page 30 of the prefiled evidence, but we asked you:
"Why does OPG consider 6% to be 'slightly' above?"


And your response to that was:
"The definition of 'on market' is accepted within the compensation industry, and used in its teaching material, as within plus or minus 10 per cent of the market rate – regardless of which percentile is used as a target market."


Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide a reference for that statement?  I am not saying I don't believe it, but I hadn't heard that before.  So if it is something that is in the teaching materials, I guess, would you be able to provide something that would back that up?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I could.  I did provide it in the 2007 hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, you did?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If it is -- it sounds like it is something you could pull fairly readily.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So if I could ask you to do that here, that will be undertaking J8.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.7:  TO PROVIDE A REFERENCE TO INFORMATION CONTAINED IN BOARD STAFF IR 81(A).

MR. MILLAR:  So I guess if it is plus or minus 10 percent either way, presumably you would be on market if you are 6 percent below; is that fair to say, as well?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  I could have characterized this as being -- 6 percent being on market, but chose to give you the 6 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I appreciate it.

In part (c) of that interrogatory question, we asked:
"Why has the Towers Perrin study used the 75th percentile as a benchmark instead of the 50th percentile?" 


And you respond at the bottom:
The Towers Perrin study provides information on the mean, 10th, 25th, 50th, 75th and 90th percentiles where data is available. OPG uses the comparison to the 75th percentile because of the relative complexity of work in a large, regulated and nuclear environment."


Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  First, can you confirm that it is OPG who selected the 75 percentile, not Towers Perrin?

MS. IRVINE:  I can confirm that.

MR. MILLAR:  And did Towers Perrin provide any input in that regard?

MS. IRVINE:  No, they did not.

MR. MILLAR:  I assume you didn't ask?

MS. IRVINE:  It is not necessary to ask.  The study, which presumably will be able to show you under confidential basis, is about a six- or seven-inch binder that contains hundreds and hundreds of sheets showing company data split by geography, occupation, et cetera, along all of these percentiles, where they got the data from the representative companies.

So all of the data is there.  You can pick whatever you want.  That's the nature of the study.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you picked 75?

MS. IRVINE:  We did.

MR. MILLAR:  You have given a reason for that, the final sentence of that response. Is there any other reason you picked 75, or is that the complete reason?

MS. IRVINE:  That's the complete reason.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to page 37 in the exhibit?  This is not the Staff booklet.  This is the --


MS. IRVINE:  Oh, in the evidence?

MR. MILLAR:  -- F4, tab 3, schedule 1.  This is, you already confirmed for me, your list of comparators for arriving at that chart.

So, first of all, as we look through -- do you have that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  As we look through all of that, can you confirm for me that most, if not all, of these corporations are very large?  I am not sure about the City of Medicine Hat Hydro, for example, but otherwise there are some pretty big companies in here?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  This is a cross-section of Canadian utilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you would accept that there are a number of very large corporations in here?  OPG is not the only big one?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Most of these corporations are regulated, or at least many of them?

MS. IRVINE:  I know that we are and Hydro One is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so a number of them anyways?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  But Bruce Power is not, for instance.

MR. MILLAR:  But Hydro-Québec is, to some extent.

MS. IRVINE:  I couldn't tell you that, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fair enough.  Can you confirm for me that at least some of these work in the nuclear environment?  We've got Bruce there, AECL.  NB Power has a reactor.  I believe Hydro-Québec has a reactor.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  That's it.

MR. MILLAR:  What about -- I am not sure what Siemens Power Generation is.

MS. IRVINE:  It is not nuclear.

MR. MILLAR:  They have no nuclear?  Okay, thank you.

Now, if you look at chart 11, it is fair to say that not all of these positions are nuclear, related to the nuclear business?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I will ask you to turn that up again.  It is at page 31.  I mean, I look and see there is -- labourer is in there, junior buyer, environment fully qualified.  So there is a number that are not nuclear positions; you accept that?

MS. IRVINE:  There are a number that are not nuclear positions.  I am not positive that the ones you named are in fact not nuclear.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Now, to the extent that some of these are highly technical nuclear positions, hasn't Towers Perrin compared those against similar highly technical nuclear positions?  Isn't that how the comparison works?

MS. IRVINE:  I think you will find that there are, in fact, 26 companies that are compared, and only four have any nuclear expertise.

So I can't confirm whether the information is coming from those particular companies or not.  It is aggregated.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  You can't pick out who is who?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, do you know, for example -- can you pick something from chart 11?  Is there any single position there you could pick out as something that is definitely a nuclear position?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Because they're not broken down this way?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  That's the difficulty in getting the information you asked for earlier.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

Would you -- again, if we are looking at your comparators, would you accept that most, if not all, of these are unionized work environments?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't know if that is the case or not.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't know about any of them?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, I know a few that are and I know some that aren't.

MR. MILLAR:  Which ones aren't?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't believe that Nexen is.  I am not sure about Siemens.  Some of the investor-owned ones are less likely to be unionized, although some are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, you talk about the highly technical and nuclear nature of some of your positions.

Obviously, not all of the positions at OPG relate to nuclear; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  True.  But all of the positions in OPG are in a very large and diverse regulated environment.  Not everybody has the kind of breadth of skill that is required in our jobs.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I suppose they may have other difficulties, other challenges and other technical issues that might not be relevant for OPG; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't know what those would be.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, Towers Perrin is an independent third party; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And they have seen fit to compare these positions, so presumably at least Towers Perrin thinks these are comparable positions?

MS. IRVINE:  These are comparable employers.  The positions may or may not be comparable.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, why would they compare non-comparable positions?  What assistance would that be?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, when you are doing salary surveys, you are comparing on benchmark job data, and benchmark job data is notoriously sparse in detail.  So you are matching, to the best of your ability, the jobs that were surveyed in the report.

So you have to gauge whether or not you think the match is strong or weak, and use what you can from that data.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and Towers Perrin has done that analysis; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We do that analysis in extracting out the data from the Towers Perrin report in order to draw conclusions about where we sit relative to the market.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  But the chart you have in your evidence is produced directly from Towers Perrin; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  The chart is produced by OPG.  The data is taken from the Towers Perrin report.

MR. MILLAR:  So have you taken -- again, for chart 11, I want to make sure we understand what we're talking about here.  This chart would not appear in the Towers Perrin study?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have taken data -- that makes sense, I suppose, because they're not writing the report for OPG.

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But they collect all of this data.  You take the data, and that data leads directly to this chart?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So did you pick your comparable companies -- pardon me, the comparable job positions, or did Towers Perrin?

MS. IRVINE:  We picked them.

MR. MILLAR:  You picked them?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, because Towers Perrin will give us a list of all of the jobs that they surveyed, and we would find the best matches within OPG to those jobs.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah.

MS. IRVINE:  These are a list of some of the ones that appeared.

Clearly not all of the jobs in OPG are in the Towers Perrin report nor are all of the matches 100 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  So there would be -- in the Towers Perrin report, there would be data on some job classifications that -- OPG may have a similar position that you did not include in this chart?  You applied your own judgment to determine what the --


MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  We were particularly interested in providing you some market information about unionized positions.  So these -- this is the best subset we could get.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the data is from Towers Perrin, but you picked the positions?

MS. IRVINE:  They give us information about each job that they survey.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  We decide if we have a position that reasonably matches that.

And in some cases, if the job -- we think our job is bigger than what is described, we would normally go to a higher percentile in the market data.  So that's the 75th that we have chosen.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  And that is done by you, not by Towers Perrin?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think I understand.  Thank you.

One of the criteria you give as to why OPG should perhaps use the 75th percentile is that you are in a regulated environment?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that relevant?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, particularly in the nuclear side of the house, the CNSC requirements on training and skill level are quite a bit more onerous than those in non-nuclear industries.

And given that there is only four or five companies in the comparator list that have nuclear, the bulk of them do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Those by and large are regulated, are they not?  May be not a --


MS. IRVINE:  They're not regulated by the CNSC.  They maybe have rate regulation, but there are other regulatory bodies that we report to, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So when you say "regulated" you don't mean the OEB; you mean the CNSC?

MS. IRVINE:  I mean the whole gamut.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  But the bigger difference is in the CNSC.

MR. MILLAR:  Is Hydro-Quebec not regulated by the CNSC?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  That's one of the four or five nuclear environments.

MR. MILLAR:  And NB Power, as well?

MS. IRVINE:  NB power, Hydro-Quebec, AECL, Bruce and ourselves.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You are all regulated by CNSC?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't know if you can answer this, but would job security generally be higher in a regulated environment than a non-regulated environment?

MS. IRVINE:  Not necessarily, in my view.  I think it would have more to do whether it is investor-owned or government-owned.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would job security be higher in government-owned facilities?

MS. IRVINE:  Tends to be, just by my experience.  And they also tend to be more unionized.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I guess I didn't quite understand what that chart showed, but you have clarified that.

Could I ask you to turn to page 2 of the Staff booklet?  This is a Schools interrogatory, Interrogatory No. 36, Issue number 6.8.

And they asked you, essentially, to replicate the chart on page 31 using the 50th percentile?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have done that.  And we have heard -- I heard your explanation as to why you used the 75th, so that being said, I want to look at what kind of results you get at the 50th percentile.

And can you confirm for me, first of all, that only two of the positions you have selected would come underneath at the 50th percentile?  That would be operating technician entry and industrial nurse?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  But about a third of the positions are actually on market using the industry definition.

MR. MILLAR:  Using the 10 percent?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, the operating technician and industry nurse are on market as well, according to that analysis?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We did a simple average of calculating how much over 50th percentile you were, and we get 16 percent overall.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MS. IRVINE:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  And you would accept that if the 50th percentile is the right one to use, you are above market on that?

MS. IRVINE:  On average, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  On average.

A number of positions stand out here.  We see warehouse supervisor is 30 percent above the 50th percentile, labourer 21 percent, and junior buyer 23 percent above.

I am not sure exactly what these jobs entail.  But to me, they sound more or less like generic positions.  Am I wrong in that assumption?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, certainly the labourer, I think we could probably match fairly well.  Buyer and warehouse supervisor can have different amounts of responsibility.

MR. MILLAR:  So for a labourer, I take it the criteria -- and this is just an example -- the reasons you gave why the 75th percentile is appropriate wouldn't apply to the labourer position, in all likelihood?

MS. IRVINE:  It would be less likely to apply.  But the labourer is, in fact, part of a unionized work force, and I believe that is probably a major driver behind its --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will get to that, I think.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And maybe this answers the question, but the question is:  Why do you have to pay labourers 21 percent above the median or the 50th percentile?  Do you have anything to add to that?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  Labourers are in the lowest band for the PWU, and so they are paid appropriately within our internal hierarchy.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, they're paid what they're paid, I guess.  And I understand we will get to the union contracts in a moment.

But these folks will be -- you are anticipating they will get a raise?  Their bracket will creep up by about 3 percent in the next collective bargaining agreement?

MS. IRVINE:  The PWU have a collective bargaining agreement that runs until March 31st, 2012, and the yearly increases to the salary schedules are already set at 3 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is the Society where you are forecasting that the 3 percent continues?

MS. IRVINE:  We are not forecasting it continue.  We're forecasting that it might continue, depending on the results of arbitration.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, obviously, the forecast is not certain, but you are forecasting 3 percent for the Society?

MS. IRVINE:  We are allowing that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Again, looking at chart 11 on page 31 of the Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, can you confirm for me, or alternately deny, I suppose, that whether we are looking at the 50th percentile or 75th percentile, what we are talking about here are base wages?  Is that what we are comparing?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  This wouldn't include bonuses, overtime, benefits, et cetera?

MS. IRVINE:  No, it does not.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Now, we don't necessarily have to get into all of the numbers, but just for example, if you flip back to page 14 in F4, tab 3, schedule 1, again, I provide these only for illustration.

A number of positions at OPG are entitled to some fairly significant bonuses; is that fair to say?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And there would also be -- I don't want to characterize them as generous or not generous, but there would be other things on top of wages?  There would be overtime and benefits package, things like that?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  None of that would be captured in table 11?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  Neither is it recorded in the Towers Perrin study.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Fair enough.  I just want to make sure we know what we're looking at and what we're not looking at.

MS. IRVINE:  Would you excuse me for just one moment?

MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  I'm sorry.

MS. IRVINE:  I beg your pardon.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Are you on page 14?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  I did have -- while we are on this topic, I did have some questions about some of the bonuses that some folks are eligible for.

And if you look at -– again, I am on page 14, 5.4.4, "Authorization bonuses and leadership allowances"?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  And what it says, I will read it out:

"Employees in nuclear who are authorized by the CNSC, such as authorized nuclear operators, control room shift supervisors", et cetera, "and who are required to maintain their licenses as a requirement of their job, receive a licence retention bonus of between 15 to 28 per cent of their base salary.  The bonus is pensionable."

Am I reading that correctly?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, you are.

MR. MILLAR:  I confess I am having some trouble understanding this, so I want to ask you a few questions about this.

You are giving them a bonus for maintaining the accreditation they're required to have to perform their job?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  This can be up to 28 percent of their base salary?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And am I correct that maintaining their licence is a requirement of the job?  Is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  If they don't maintain their licence, they will not lose their employment, but they will not be able to perform the full duties of the job.

MR. MILLAR:  Why wouldn't they lose their employment?

MS. IRVINE:  That is what is in the union contract.

MR. MILLAR:  What would happen to them?

MS. IRVINE:  They would go into an unauthorized position and lose the bonus.

MR. MILLAR:  So they would maintain their base salary?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So what would you have them doing?

MS. IRVINE:  We would have them doing work that the CNSC says isn't required to be done by a licensed individual.

MR. MILLAR:  Presumably, you already -- you have hired all of the people you need, so in the event that that happens, is that person sharing a job with someone else?  Or why do you need that person around if they can't do the job you hired them for?

MS. IRVINE:  The CNSC licensing process is pretty onerous.  It takes about eight years to get through it.  There is a 50 percent fail rate on the exam.

It is -- we have difficulty maintaining a number of authorized staff.  So this is part of our program to try and encourage people to maintain -- to achieve and to maintain their authorization.

The maintenance of the authorization requires a great deal of personal time devoted into studying, writing exams, those kinds of things.  So we consider it an appropriate motivation to continue to do that, as do most other nuclear entities.

MR. MILLAR:  But that is not uncommon for a professional designation; right?  Speaking from my own experience, I am required to do a bunch of continuing legal education every year.  Any professional designation, you have to put in work to maintain it; is that not fair?

MS. IRVINE:  That's true, but I don't think you are probably required to write an exam.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I am not, but I -- well, it's not appropriate for me to give evidence.

If you look over at page 15 and you look at line 12, it says:
"Not every employee is prepared to devote personal time and effort necessary to obtain and maintain a licence."

Am I reading that correctly?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, you are.

MR. MILLAR:  How can that be?  They need their licence to have their job, don't they?

MS. IRVINE:  No, they need their licence to do an authorized job, but we do have unauthorized operators.  They can do other forms of -- take other forms of duties that don't -- the CNSC does not require to be performed by an authorized person.

MR. MILLAR:  And they would get paid the same amount as an authorized --


MS. IRVINE:  No, they would.

MR. MILLAR:  They wouldn't get the bonus, but --


MS. IRVINE:  They wouldn't get the bonus, and if they hadn't obtained their licence, they would not be getting the same rate as the authorized person at the get-go.  So there is a difference between the pay rates for authorized staff and unauthorized staff.

If an unauthorized staff person achieves authorization, then they go to the new rate, the authorized rate.  If they never achieve it, they never go there.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But if they go there, and then they lose their licence, what happens?

MS. IRVINE:  Then they lose the bonus, but maintain their wage.

MR. MILLAR:  Really?

MS. IRVINE:  Part of the collective agreement.

MR. MILLAR:  You signed the collective agreement; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Not personally.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, no, the company signed -- I am sure there will be a lot of times you will tell me the collective agreement says what it says, but OPG enters that collective agreement; right?

MS. IRVINE:  Ontario Hydro actually entered that collective agreement.

MR. MILLAR:  Not the current one, did they?

MS. IRVINE:  The clause has been in place since Ontario Hydro days.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But you are not required to maintain -- I know you have to bargain this and that, but you don't have an identical collective agreement now as Ontario Hydro had?

MS. IRVINE:  No, but not too dissimilar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think I have my answer on that.  Thank you.

Staff IR 79, I think if you just flip to pages 4 and 5 in the booklet, we asked you a question as to whether Bruce does something similar, and your response you will see on page 5 is you understand Bruce does do something similar, but you don't know the numbers; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you settle on 38 percent or any particular bonus without reference to Bruce, for example?  Did you have other comparators?

MS. IRVINE:  No, it was a bargained rate.

MR. MILLAR:  I want to be careful.  I know there is only so much I can ask you about what you know going into your bargaining, so I will refrain from asking too much.  But you don't know what Bruce pays?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  I contacted Bruce Power personally and spoke to their -- my equivalent of their position, and she was prepared to say that, yes, they do provide bonuses, but she was not prepared to tell us the extent.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If I could ask you to go back to page 6 of F4, tab 3, schedule 1, again, not the booklet; the exhibit in the prefiled evidence.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And this is just kind of an overview of current compensation, I think.  It says:
"The highly skilled nature of the work, coupled with the aging workforce, means that OPG needs to compensate its employees appropriately in order to retain and attract a consistent supply of employees..."


Et cetera.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So retention obviously is one of the goals of your compensation package and program?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is OPG having trouble retaining people in the organization?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  We put a number of things in place that are attractive, are an attractive means of retention.

So pension plans, wages, those kinds of things are --


MR. MILLAR:  The bonuses we just discussed, for example.

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.  That is for a small subset of employees.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  I picked on that one because it stood out to me a little bit.  But, you're right, actually, the monetary amount associated with that wouldn't be enormous.  Just to fill that out, something like 220-odd employees would be eligible for that licence-maintain bonus, something in that range?

MS. IRVINE:  Out of 12,000, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are not having a retention problem; is that fair?

MS. IRVINE:  Not currently.  We are concerned about retention of folks once they reach an undiscounted pension, but beyond that, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, absent retirements, do you happen to know how many people have left OPG in the last couple of years?

MS. IRVINE:  Our attrition rate is somewhere between 2 and 3 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  But that includes retirements?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  What does that include?

MS. IRVINE:  People just terminating, either being fired or voluntarily leaving.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that would be any reason anyone leaves other than a retirement?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't happen to know what the split would be between people leaving voluntarily and people being fired or let go?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  Sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Some questions about comparisons with your fellow successor companies to Ontario Hydro.

If you could turn to page 31, I think it is, in F4, tab 3, schedule 1?  And I understand that in addition to the Towers Perrin stuff that you look at and the Mercer benchmarking in another area, you also do some of your own benchmarking against your fellow successor companies to Ontario Hydro?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you discuss this at page 31, and then there is a chart on page 32.  And this is showing how you compared to Bruce Power under a number of PWU categories.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  In fairness to you, as you point out, you do seem to generally be doing better than Bruce at least for most of these categories?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I would understand that this obviously doesn't include all Bruce Power classifications, nor all of the OPG classifications?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Does it -- can you confirm for me it shows all of the classifications that are common to both companies, and, if not, can you tell me why you left some off?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that generally these are the bulk of them.  However, I am not prepared to say it is an all-inclusive list.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to check and, to the extent it is not, to complete it?  Is that possible?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  The issue is matching the jobs as they're performed at Bruce versus as they're performed at OPG.  These -- we certainly matched on job title, and because they're not that distant from us, we can understand pretty much what those jobs do.

There could be jobs that have been created by Bruce that we are unaware of, or that we have.  Certainly these only cover off the nuclear side of the house and not any of the hydro or corporate --


MR. MILLAR:  Of course.

MS. IRVINE:  -- that might be regulated.

MR. MILLAR:  Bruce doesn't have those, no.

MS. IRVINE:  They don't have regulated anything.

MR. MILLAR:  They don't have hydro.

MS. IRVINE:  They don't have hydro.  They may have some of the corporate functions.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I am not sure where this leads.  I am not a suspicious soul, of course, but sometimes there would be a fear that people would pick positions that show them in a good light and perhaps fail to show everything.

MS. IRVINE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to look to confirm that there are no common positions, by whatever definition you choose?  I can certainly trust you to do that, but confirm there are no additional ones that are not on this chart, and, if there are, if you could provide the data for those?

MS. IRVINE:  That's going to be pretty onerous.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, don't you just have to match the names of the positions?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, where the names of the positions are close enough, yes.  But, as I say, I do not know if there's been positions created at Bruce.

I think you will note that in the "OPG" column, you will see an awful lot of similar rates of pay.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  And that's because we are completely on a three-band salary schedule and so -- and Bruce is not.  Bruce still has individual struck rates for jobs.

All of ours have been simplified.  So it is a question of taking every job of the Bruce and figuring out what band it would be within OPG, and I am not sure I have the data to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will move on.

MS. IRVINE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I will trust you.  Mr. Shepherd is here.  If he chooses to follow up, I am sure he will, but I am satisfied with that.  Thank you.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  He's more suspicious than I am.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  First, can you confirm for me this chart obviously it is only showing base wages?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  It doesn't include bonuses, benefits, pensions et cetera?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  I would also like to point out that on page 32, where we are at, I do note that the above analysis was provided based on a sample group large enough to provide an estimate as to the overall difference in pay rates.

So it is clearly not an exhaustive list.

MR. MILLAR:  You are the one who prepared this sample group?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can you also confirm for me Bruce is one of your comparators in that Towers Perrin study or data, or whatever it is you choose to call it?

MS. IRVINE:  Towers Perrin lists Bruce Power as one of the participants, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would have access to -- it is not broken out in a way you could tell who it is.

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  But Bruce would be part of that data set?

MS. IRVINE:  Presumably.  The numbers that are here have come from looking at Bruce's collective agreements.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, you also include some information on how you are doing vis-à-vis other Ontario Hydro successors, for example, Hydro One.

I am looking at page 33 now.

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  You produce a chart showing various wage comparisons between OPG and Hydro One for a variety of Society positions.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And as you point out, there is some differences here and there.  More -- by and large, you are essentially in line with them?  With Hydro One?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  I think that you should be aware that these are not based on individual jobs, but on the salary schedules and the various salary grades.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and thank you.  Frankly, I don't understand exactly how that works, but I heard the same thing from Hydro One, so I... I knew you would say that even if I don't know what it means, but I understand.  Thank you.

Again, just to get back to my question, you are more or less the same as Hydro One, at least for these positions; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  Pretty much.  There is a few differences, but...

MR. MILLAR:  You point out, in fact, that Hydro One bands are a bit broader and they have lower starting salaries for some of the bands?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But otherwise, you are in the ballpark, anyway?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, again, it probably won't surprise you to hear this, or maybe it will, but many of your Ontario Hydro successor confreres also appear to believe they're doing very well in this regard in comparing against each other.

And indeed, Hydro One, as you may be aware, is currently before the Board for their own rates application.  And they seem to think they're doing great in this regard.  I have provided a document that they filed in their current proceeding before the Board.

And if I could ask you to turn to page 16 of our booklet, and it happens to be page 17 of their Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, again, this is in the EB-2010-0002 proceeding, which is a Hydro One rates case.

And if you look at line 7, it says:

"In addition, it is quite clear that compared to these four other companies, Hydro One has been quite successful in controlling costs in collective bargaining over the past 10 years, to the benefit of all ratepayers."

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then at page 14 of the booklet, page 15 of the exhibit, they produce a chart for SEP positions that essentially matches the chart you provided at page 33.

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The numbers are aren't quite the same, but they're very close, so I won't go into why think may be a little bit different.

Now, if you look at page 13, page 14 of the exhibit but page 13 of the booklet, they produce a similar chart for certain Power Workers' Union positions.

And I looked through OPG's application, but I didn't see a chart similar to this one; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So why did you provide a chart for Society positions, but not Power Workers' Union positions?

MS. IRVINE:  Again, the salary structures within the Society are fairly comparable across both companies.  Ontario Power Generation uses MP 2 to 6, and Hydro One uses a similar level of banding.

Within the Power Workers' Union, there is substantial differences between the salary structures.  As I mentioned earlier, we have negotiated with the PWU and struck a very simple salary rate schedule.  Bruce Power has not gone to that model.

So it is very difficult to provide comparisons like that, and neither has Hydro One.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, Hydro One, rightly or wrongly, seems to think that they can do this.  They have provided a comparison.

Let's just look at that chart.

They have -- just the top one, mechanical maintainer, regional maintainer, mechanical.  They have figures for both Hydro One and OPG.

Are they wrong?  Are these not comparable positions?

MS. IRVINE:  They are close to being comparable positions, but this chart is based on individual jobs, whereas the chart with the Society is based on salary structure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay?  So that is the difference between the two, two approaches.

We could have cherry picked a number of jobs and compared them across all three, but we didn't think that was useful.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and again, I can only -- I wasn't involved in this case, so I am just looking at what is here on the chart, but they've picked, what is it, seven or so positions.

And again, I am not sure what we can read into this, but if we look into it, the first one, the mechanical maintainer, they say they pay 38.30; you pay 44.72.  Shift controller, 38.30 versus 44.72.

The next two clerical positions, you look actually pretty much the same.

Then we get to regional field mechanic, 35.56 versus 44.72.

And I hate to keep picking on the poor labourers, but here we have 25.82 for Hydro One and 34.79 for OPG.

First, do you have any cause to disagree with the numbers they have here?  Have they done something improper?

MS. IRVINE:  Not that I can check.  Not that I am aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  They're simply taking the end rates of the grades and applying them.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  I think you heard -- you said earlier, there may be some cherry picking, to use your word.  I guess I don't know why they picked these particular positions, but it would be fair to say that this it is a sample, and we don't know if it is a representative sample or not?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, we do know that the bulk of OPG positions are not similar to the bulk of Hydro One positions, in terms of their responsibilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we have a sample here that may not be representative?

MS. IRVINE:  Ones that happen to be fairly generic-type jobs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to skip this.

I am not sure if you are aware of this, but in the most recent Hydro One, I think it was their transmission case, the Board made certain reductions to their revenue requirement based on what the Board found to be excessive compensation levels.

Are you aware of that?

MS. IRVINE:  I had heard that that had occurred, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you turn to page -- I think I have an excerpt from that Decision at page 66 of the booklet.

And I am not sure -- I will just read it to you.  If you look at page 66, the first sentence:

"Hydro One's evidence is that the revenue requirement would be $13 million less if it were based on the median compensation levels from the Mercer study."
This is a report they did on compensation levels.  And it says, a few lines down:

"The Board will disallow $4 million in each of the test years."

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't want to be seen as picking on either Hydro One or OPG, but if you'll permit me an observation, it seems the successor companies -- many of them are regulated before us, they bring rates applications -- they all seem to be able to produce a chart much like you have in your application and Hydro One in theirs, where they're able to show by some accounting method that they're doing better than all their comparators.

Again, am I just being suspicious here?  Why is it that everyone schemes to be able to produce a chart where they're the best?

MS. IRVINE:  It's interesting, because not all of these companies are, in fact, in the same business any longer.

MR. MILLAR:  That's true.

MS. IRVINE:  And so depending on how you slice the data, you can get all kinds of different comparisons.

We've done it in a couple of different ways.  One is to compare the salary structures in which we show that we are not below.  We are about the same when it comes to comparison to Hydro One and Bruce Power.

We have also looked at the salary increases that have been bargained yearly over the bulk of the sister companies, if you will, or the successors of Ontario Hydro, and shown that over the years we have been doing fairly well, in terms of negotiated results.

MR. MILLAR:  And as you pointed out, you can cut the numbers a number of different ways.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Not looking to cast aspersions here, but maybe it is a natural inclination for organizations, whether knowingly or not, to look at the numbers from their own particular perspective.

My question to you is:  Hydro One, I think, because the Board made it do so, did a -- something called the Mercer compensation study.  That is not its actual name, but it was a study done by Mercer, where they had a third party have a thorough review of their compensation levels and they benchmarked them against another -- a number of other industries.

That is not something we have for OPG; is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Mercer is -- has been hired to do a compensation benchmarking for the management grid, the non-unionized staff, and have for a number of years, you know, since OPG's inception.  But we have not had Mercer do unionized studies.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  What would -- you don't even have to answer this question, but Board Staff and perhaps others may be suggesting, as a condition of this order, that OPG be required to do a study for the unionized side similar to what you have done for management.

Do you have a position on that?  And you can look to your counsel, if you wish, and if you don't want to answer, I won't make you.  But I thought I would put that to you to give you an opportunity to comment on that.

MS. IRVINE:  It is a very expensive undertaking.  It would be significant, in terms of several hundred thousand dollars it would take, because it would have to be custom.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.

MS. IRVINE:  So Mercer would have to dig out as much information and approach as many companies as possible to try and find comparable jobs that they could then compare the rates to.

I haven't seen the Mercer study that was done for Hydro One.  I don't know if it was on base pay or if it was on total compensation.  If it's on total compensation, that is a significant amount of work for a consultant, and they will charge us for it.

MR. MILLAR:  It was total compensation.

MS. IRVINE:  Including benefits, pensions and incentives, and all of that?

MR. MILLAR:  I believe so.

MS. IRVINE:  So that information is hard to come by from other companies, and if it is unionized, then you have to ask yourself:  We have all of this data, but now what can we do about it?  We have to bargain.

So to the extent we can pull information from other collective agreements of similar companies, like Bruce Power and so on, and from the Towers Perrin study, which we got in 2007 - and we updated that one chart as a result of the request - you know, we have to say, All right, what are we going to do with that data?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that is a good question.  However, you conceded off the top that OPG's general philosophy, anyways, is that you should be paying market rates for labour.  You said that?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.  I did not define the market.

MR. MILLAR:  No, you didn't, but that is what this study would do.  That would be the purpose of this study.

MS. IRVINE:  No.  The study would give us information and we would still have to compare ourselves against what we would consider the market.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough, but it would be a tool you would use?

MS. IRVINE:  It would be a tool, but for what purpose?  And for management group, we can go to the board and say, Here is where we stand relative to -- we are in the 50th percentile on the management side, because we can control those wages.

When it comes to the union, we can spend hundreds of thousands of dollars collecting data and have the union say, That's interesting.  Now let's bargain.

It is a question of economics.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, fair enough, but you wouldn't suggest that ratepayers should be -- just as OPG would like to be at the market, whatever the market is, to the extent you are over the market, presumably ratepayers shouldn't give you money for that?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that rate -- well, perhaps I should look at my lawyer.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't have to answer if you don't want.

MS. IRVINE:  I think ratepayers should be paying the costs --


MR. MILLAR:  Reasonable costs.

MS. IRVINE:  -- associated with producing the electricity.  These are part of the costs.

MR. MILLAR:  You have accepted it should be market?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not sure that it is not market.

MR. MILLAR:  Agreed.  I concede that there are different ways to look at market.  Why don't we move on?  I think that concludes this part of the cross-examination.

I am going to move on to some questions about your collective agreements, since we are on that topic.  Maybe you can turn to page 6 of the booklet.  This is Staff IR 75, Issue 6.8.

Just to set some of the background, as I think you have already said, the PWU's collective agreement doesn't expire until March 31st, 2012; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So most of their costs over the test years are essentially locked in?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The Society, a little bit different, their agreement comes up the last day of this year; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked you in Board Staff 75 what wage increases are built into the OM&A budgets, and you gave us 3 percent for management and 4 percent for the two unions; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the management one has since been rescinded?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to follow up on that quickly, if you look at page 7 of the booklet, you say -- 2011 and 2012, under management we see the 3 percent increases, and then the dollar impact.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  It is 5 million in 2011 and 11 million in 2012?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So 16 million for both years?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  The impact statement you provided -- and I think I have it here at page 34 of the booklet.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, yes.  I've got my copy.

MR. MILLAR:  There were two amounts that OPG proposed to essentially offset each other.  There was an increase in CNSC's fees of $13 million.  That is on page 34.  Do you see that at line 27?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you flip over to page 35, page 2 of 4 of the impact statement, you discuss the impact of the Public Sector Compensation Restraint Act, and you say that will reduce amounts by $12 million.

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  And those essentially offset.

How does the 12 million correspond to the $16 million from page 7 from Board Staff IR 75?

MS. IRVINE:  I will draw your attention to the chart that is in Board Staff 75 on page 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  So that is Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 75.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm there.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.  You will note that on the Power Workers' Union and Society columns, the increases are 4 percent, whereas we know that in the collective agreement the salary schedule increases are 3 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  So there is a differential there of 1 percent, which accounts for promotions, progression increases, those kinds of things that are beyond the scope of simply changing the salary schedule.

Well, those kinds of activities take place in management group, as well.  And so my understanding is that the 12 million that was reduced out -- on the impact statement reflected the actual salary changes that we would have made, and it left in the component of increasing in costs associated with people being promoted or getting new jobs.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would be $4 million out of 16 million?

MS. IRVINE:  Could you excuse me, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. IRVINE:  My colleague has corrected my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  While we come to the same conclusion, it is through a different method, so I apologize for misleading the Board.

Apparently the explanation for the $4 million is that we will get increases for management compensation once the Public Sector Restraint Act is complete, which is April 1st, 2012.

So for the year 2012, there will be increases, but not for the entire year.

MR. MILLAR:  I see, okay.

MS. IRVINE:  It happens to be about the same amount as my previous explanation.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand the answer, so thank you.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Moving on to our friends in the unions, again, you have predicted increases, 4 percent year over year, essentially, of which 3 percent are the increases actually baked into the collective agreements; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the other 1 percent is to account for people moving up through the ranks.

Now, the Public Sector Compensation Restraint -- the act itself does not apply to unions; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you familiar with the government's policy statement in this regard?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  And I have reproduced it at page 10 of our booklet, and it is an FAQ.  Actually, I haven't produced everything, but I have reproduced an FAQ here relating to that.

And if you look down, I think it is the third question.  It says:
"Why only non-bargaining employees of public sector employees, and not those who bargain collectively, (e.g., unionized)?"


And then about two sentences in, it says:
"Employees who are part of a union or who bargain compensation collectively would see their current agreements honoured.  When these agreements expire and new contracts are negotiated, the government will work with transfer payment partners and bargaining agents to seek agreements of at least two years' duration that do not include net compensation increases."


Then skipping to the last sentence:
"It doesn't matter whether contracts expire next month, next year or the year after that – all employers and employee groups will be expected to do their part."


Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't know if you are aware of this or not, and I am not sure I even have a source, but I will ask you.

It was my understanding that the government was holding consultations with various stakeholders and unions and that they had at least planned to have discussions with the PWU and the SEP in September and earlier October of this year.  Do you know anything about that?

MS. IRVINE:  That is my understanding, that that was their intention, and I believe that took place for the Society.  I don't believe it took place with the PWU.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Now, is it fair to say that you are taking a business-as-usual approach to budgeting salary increases for your unionized employees?

MS. IRVINE:  Well, for the PWU, the increases are in place until April 1st, 2012.  So those are known and are contractual.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. IRVINE:  For the Society, as you mentioned, we are going into bargaining.  Well, we have exchanged agendas, at least.  So that process has started.  Where it will end, no one knows.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's fair enough, and you are bargaining and there is only so much you can tell me.

But for the purposes of your application, you are assuming 3 percent?

MS. IRVINE:  We are assuming that there may be a requirement to pay up to that, depending on what the outcome of negotiations is.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, not just up to that.  That is what you forecast; correct?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess is it fair to say then that you think the Public Sector Compensation Restraint Policy will essentially have no impact on your negotiations with the Society?

MS. IRVINE:  That may be the case.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You are predicting -- I am not saying you are wrong, but you are predicting that the government's policy will fail in that regard?

MS. IRVINE:  I am predicting that there is a risk for OPG to budget zero for Society increases.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I didn't say zero.  There is numbers between zero and three.

MS. IRVINE:  True.  But I don't think that anything between those two, it doesn't make sense to actually predict between zero and three, because it could be anything.

MR. MILLAR:  But your best guess is this policy will have no impact whatsoever?

MS. IRVINE:  I am not sure that my best guess is it will have no impact.

I don't think that we want to jeopardize the ability to run the company because we are assuming that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Your forecast amount is 3 percent, so I have to believe that that is your best guess and that is what you believe it is, at least for forecasting purposes, but I hear your answer.

Now, frankly, you might not be crazy to take that view.  Mr. Stephenson will take you through a couple of cases, I think, that he provided in advance.

And indeed we were aware of a different -- these are arbitrators' decisions on some increases for unionized folks.

So maybe zero is not the right number, frankly, looking at how some of these have come out.  Though first of all, I take it every arbitration will be decided on its own merits; is that fair to say?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Because one union gets 2 percent, or four or 10 percent, for that matter, that doesn't necessarily bear directly on how an arbitration with the Society will go?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But at the same time, these are the types of things, no doubt, you and your legal folks look at when setting strategy?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So I did look very quickly at Mr. Stephenson's cases, and if you look on page 10 of our booklet, there is -- I'm sorry, it is not page 10.

It is unnumbered, the secret case.  It is a late addition, so it is not numbered, but if you look after page 11, there is a Globe and Mail article:  "Arbitrator nixes Ontario's plans for wage freeze."

Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  Were you familiar with this case, or with this article?

MS. IRVINE:  We certainly follow these kind of things with great interest.

MR. MILLAR:  So in that particular case, the argument that this restraint policy should cancel all increases didn't fly; is that fair to say?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that Arbitrator Teplitsky was fairly clear in that regard.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and they granted a 2 percent wage increase; is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stephenson's cases, I got last night, and I only had a quick look through them.  Frankly, I confess I have trouble reading the ultimate outcome in some of these, but as I read it, the increases in that case were somewhere in the neighbourhood of 2 to 2.5 percent per annum?  Does that sound right?

He will take you through these, I'm sure, so if I'm wrong, I'll be corrected, but...

MS. IRVINE:  University of Toronto was 4.5 percent over two years, so two and a quarter each year.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you have the number for the other one?

MS. IRVINE:  ESA was 3 percent for each of two years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess we will see how these ultimately shake out, and how an arbitration might go with the Society, if it got to that.

But I guess the point I would have from this relatively small sample, admittedly, is we have one case with a 2 percent increase, one at 2.25, and I guess the other with 3 percent.

My point is that that is, I guess, on average we are looking at a little bit less than 3 percent.

Would you accept that?

MS. IRVINE:  For those three cases, it is an average of less than 3 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure what we can make of that, but it is what it is.

You were asked some questions by my friend Mr. Shepherd at the technical conference, if you could turn to page 9 of the Staff booklet.

You factored in increases above 3 percent to account for people moving through the ranks.  We discussed that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd asked you have you factored -- this is at line 8, page 9 of the booklet.

Have you factored in your hiring of more junior people, which -- you have increased the rate of hiring more junior people; right?

Your answer is:  No, we have not factored that in.

Is that right?

MS. IRVINE:  That was my answer.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that correct?

MS. IRVINE:  No, it's not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What is the real answer?

MS. IRVINE:  The answer is yes, it is factored in.  At the time that I provided this testimony in the technical conference, I believed my answer to be correct.

And I have since been informed that no, in fact it has been factored in.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you are facing -- we haven't gone into this much, but is it fair to say you are looking at a fairly large number of retirements in the near- to medium-term?

MS. IRVINE:  Potentially, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am sure Mr. Stephenson will go through all the reasons that people are going to be leaving.  At least from Hydro One, I understood that they were facing a lot of retirements coming up.

Typically, those people would be replaced with more junior people?

MS. IRVINE:  Generally, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And those people are generally paid less, at least when they start?

MS. IRVINE:  When they start, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So why, then, do we have a 25 percent increase over a 3 percent increase to get us to 4 percent, when we have these types of factors?  Pardon my math, but why is it going up and not down?

MS. IRVINE:  Right.  Within the unionized ranks, both the Society and for the PWU, there is a salary range that is provided.

In the PWU, we have band 1 goes from step zero to step 6.  Bands 2 and 3 go from step zero to step 8.  Those are annual progressions.

And so basically for people who are still on the progression system, they will both get an increase in the salary structure each year according to the collective agreement, but they will also go up one step in the progression until they hit the maximum.  And at that point, then they stop.

So that accounts for people doing that.

And within management group, it basically accounts for people being promoted or jobs being consolidated, or something around those lines.

I should mention that the Society also has this progression scheme, as well, with far many more steps in each grade.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a piece of paper where you have done this calculation to get 4 percent?

MR. MILLAR:  And are historical retirement numbers in line with what you are anticipating over the next two or three years?

MS. IRVINE:  No.  It's based on historical.

MS. IRVINE:  I think within the test period, we are unlikely to see a huge wave the retirements.  Beyond that, then we start to see more substantial numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, again, this was actually Mr. Shepherd's question, so he may well follow up further, but that is all I have on that.

I would like to move -- I have a quick series of questions on -- relating to some compensation amounts that you recovered resulting from the last payment case.  In fact, I provided you some exhibits from the previous case.

If I could ask you to turn to page 18 of the booklet, this is an exhibit from your previous payments application.

And I don't intend to dwell on this for very long.  Do you have that page?

MS. IRVINE:  I do.  I should also note that this is not part of my evidence in 2007.  This is part of nuclear's evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Well, I will ask some questions, and I guess I will take the answers you can give.

But really I am just looking at some numbers here.  I am looking at what your forecasts were for -- of hires, and the reason I am asking you is because I am ultimately going to be asking about compensation amounts, but I take your point that you may not have prepared this.

Regardless, you will see the plan amounts for 2008 and 2009 for total regular staff FTEs and non-regular staff FTEs?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the numbers, again, you can see them:  8,109 and 7,933 for regular, and 379 and 250 for non-regular?

MS. IRVINE:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you flip to the next page, this is an exhibit from this proceeding, which shows your actual numbers for those years?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  It shows the headcount numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Yes.  Again, there is the... yes, I'm sorry.

Would you take it -- first of all, from the previous chart, I take it that the compensation amounts associated with these employee numbers would have formed part of the revenue requirement that you requested from the Board?

This was part of your application, so to the extent you were paying compensation to these folks, those forecast amounts would have formed part of the application?

MS. IRVINE:  I think that would be a reasonable assumption.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As far as I am aware, the Board -- I know the Board doesn't approve particular line items, but the Board made no reductions for staffing numbers or salaries?

MR. SMITH:  Well, it will be reflected in the decision.  There is a base OM&A reduction at Pickering.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, there was.  That's fine.  Thank you.

So, sorry, again, if you turn to page 19, this is from the current application.  Without -- we can do the math, if you like, but subject to check, would you accept that your actual regular staff numbers for 2008 and 2009 were 1,362.9 lower than you had forecast?

And, again, the math would be 761 lower in 2008 and 601 in 2009.  Is my math right, or would you take it subject to check?

MS. IRVINE:  I would take it subject to check, but I would also note that you are comparing an FTE amount to a head count number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We discussed this with a previous panel.  Okay.  Well, thank you for that.

If you look at the non-regular, and subject to what you have just said, you actually hired 821 more people for non-regular than you had forecast, and I get 341 for 2008, something like 482 for 2009, something like that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  Again, subject to the same caveat.

MR. MILLAR:  And in the last proceeding, again, I provided an interrogatory filed by Schools.  I have it at page 24.

They just asked you -- the average employee costs for the nuclear business for 2005 is what you produced.  Do you see that?  It is at -- page 24 is the answer, and it is a fairly simple chart showing the average employee costs year end 2005, regular and non-regular.  Do you see that?

MS. IRVINE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  If you add up all of the numbers, they're not actually added here, but the total for regular I have is 116.5 thousand dollars?  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. IRVINE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  And 63.9 for non-regular?

MS. IRVINE:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  And you can confirm for me it says in one of the footnotes that this figure does not include benefits which regular staff get, but non-regular staff don't?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So, presumably, since the regular staff do get some benefits, if you included those, their number would be higher, whereas the non-regular would stay the same?

MS. IRVINE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We have done a very -- some very rough math to try and get compensation numbers that would flow from these types of figures, and maybe we did it right.  Maybe we didn't do it right, but I want to put the calculation to you to show you what we did.  And to the extent you think we got it all wrong, I am happy for the company to provide its own numbers to show how we got it wrong.

In fact, I concede there is a number of ways you might calculate this.  We have only done one, but let me show you what we did.  Panel, this is the very last page of our booklet.  It is page 67.

What we were trying to get a handle on is the financial consequences of the fact that the forecast did not match the actuals.  What we did, you can see at the top we took 1,362 for the regular staff amounts, multiplied that by the average cost.  We got 158.7 million, and then we recognized you hired more non-regular than you thought.  So we added that up and multiplied that, and we got 52 million-and-change, subtracted the two numbers.  We got $106 million.

And that was our best guess at the additional -- all else being equal, the revenue that OPG collected on account of their last rate application that they didn't actually spend on employees.

I provided this only fairly -- earlier in the day today, and we didn't get it out last night because of some e-mail problems, but these numbers are taken from numbers that have been before you.

Can you help me out here?  Are we in the right ballpark here?  Is this the type of calculation you should do to try to understand the financial ramifications?

MS. IRVINE:  Sadly, I don't think so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. IRVINE:  But I would like to ask a question of clarification.  I assume that you got the FTE number for regular and non-regular as the differential between the FTE that was budgeted or forecast and the actual head count that existed?

MR. MILLAR:  These are just the numbers I walked you through before.

MS. IRVINE:  Right.  But they're the math of taking those two numbers and finding out the difference?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I think that's right.

MS. IRVINE:  Yes.  Well, I think it is important to know that FTE and head count are not the same -- the same term.

Head count takes into account the number of live people who are on the payroll at any given point, and usually we do it at year end.  We do it monthly, but in the reports it is usually reported as of year end.  So that means on December 31st, we had this many people on staff.

The FTE, however, is a calculation that is done to say, This is how much work needs to get done and, if we base it on sort of the standard way of doing business, this is how much it is going to cost.

So at any given time, you may have used the FTE monies earlier in the year, and those people are now no longer in place.  Therefore, they're not in the head count.

So you really can't compare FTE and head count, and then do a multiplication to this.  You could certainly take head count and times it by the average comp for FTE and find out how much, roughly, was spent in a given year, but not FTE comparison to head count.

MR. MILLAR:  And we did discuss this with the previous panel, the difference between head count and FTE, but thank you for that.

MS. IRVINE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So for that reason, perhaps others, you don't like our number of 106 million.  Can I put it that way?

MS. IRVINE:  I don't think it is representative of anything meaningful or true.

MR. MILLAR:  So I would like to provide this opportunity that I think can take or not.  But if OPG is able to present what the numbers should be, how we got it wrong, we would be happy to see OPG's calculation of that.

MS. IRVINE:  I am not sure that that is possible, because we are really comparing apples to oranges.

So what you would have to do -- I don't even know how we would do that, to be quite honest.  I am looking towards my lawyer for advice.

MR. MILLAR:  I assume you would be the one who would know, but...

MR. SMITH:  Well, it occurred to me that one way you might be able to do it, but it sounds to me like this is going to be a lot of work, is if you went back and looked at the 2007 numbers and had all of the information, you might have head count information, and then you could compare it, maybe.

But I don't know the answer to that.  The witness --


MR. MILLAR:  Let me ask the question a slightly different way.  We have calculated 106 million.  Frankly, I accept that is a bit of a ballpark figure.  Would you accept it is a big number?  It is tens of millions of dollars?

MS. IRVINE:  No, I would not.

MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't accept it is tens of millions?

MS. IRVINE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  That's because of the difference between head count and FTE?

MS. IRVINE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Madam Chair, once again, I have been a disaster in predicting how long I will be.  I am not done, unfortunately, although I am prepared to move to another area.  It is 4:30.  I know you wanted to step down, so perhaps this would be an appropriate break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, we will break now until tomorrow.  And just to advise parties that tomorrow we will need to finish at 4 o'clock in the afternoon.

And unless there is anything else, we will adjourn for the day.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m.
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